

ACADEMIA ROMÂNĂ Școala de Studii Avansate a Academiei Române Institutul de Cercetare a Calității Vieți

TEZĂ DE DOCTORAT

Analiza sociologică a efectelor detenției din perspectiva foștilor deținuți

CONDUCĂTOR DE DOCTORAT:

Dr. Cercetător științific gradul I Bădescu Ilie

DOCTORAND:

Popescu Cosmin Robert

CUPRINS

INTRODUCTION	5
THEORIES OF DEVIANCE IN SOCIETY AND IN THE PRISON ENVIRONMENT. RECIDIVISM AND DESISTANCE	
1.1. Concepts, Definitions, and Accepted Meanings	7
1.2. Sociological Theories of Delinquency	7
1.3. Recidivism and Desistance	8
THE SOCIOLOGY OF PUNISHMENT	9
2.1. The Morality of Punishment	9
2.2. The Functions of Punishment	10
2.3. Punishment as Part of the Bureaucratic Process of Penal Institutions and a Disci Mechanism	
2.4. The Marxist Perspective: Punishment as a Mechanism for Regulating the Econo	
2.5. Punishment in Cultural Context	
2.6. The Penal Code and the Regulation of Punishment	11
THE INSTITUTIONS OF THE PENAL PATH	15
3.1. The Police – First Contact with the Judicial System	15
3.2. The Accuser and the Defender	17
3.3. The Defense Attorney	18
3.4. The Judicial Authority	18
THE PENITENTIARY – A MODERN INSTITUTION WITH ARCHAIC ORIGINS SUBJECTS OF THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE PATH	
4.1. Archaic Origins of the Prison	20
4.2. Pillars of the Prison Institution	20
4.3. The Prison as Part of the Industrial Production System	20
4.4. Laboratory Prisons and Warehouse Prisons	21
4.5. The Prison Institution in Romania	21
4.6. Conclusion on the Evolution of the Penitentiary Institution	22
4.7. Subjects of the Criminal Justice Path	23
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY FOR THE PHENOMENOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF EFFECTS OF DETENTION	
5.1. Motivation for Choosing the Research Topic	25
5.2. Aim, Hypothesis, Objectives, Research Questions, Concept Definition and Operation	onalization25
5.3. Research Strategy	27

5.4. Research Methods and Techniques	28
5.5. Research Ethics	29
5.6 Research Limitations and Challenges	29
PHENOMENOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF DETENTION WITHIN	
6.1. Approach	30
6.2. Data Collection	30
6.3. Analiza datelor	30
6.4. Results	31
6.5. Conclusion	33
6.6. Recommendations	34
Bibliography	35

Lista cu abrevieri

ANP Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor

ANOFM Agenția Națională pentru Ocupare Forței de Muncă

BOR Biserica Ortodoxă Română

CCBE Council of Bars and Law Societies of Europe (CCBE) - EESC

CEPEJ Comission europeéne pour l'eficacité de la justiceENCJ European Network of

Councils for the Judiciary

GRECO Group of States against Corruption

NCP Noul Cod Penal

UNBR Uniunea Națională a Barourilor din România

INTRODUCTION

Although the penitentiary is a modern institution that emerged in the 18th century, its cultural and archetypal roots are much older. The idea of punishment and the correction of deviant behavior is inscribed in the human psycho-social structure and reflected in myths such as the Greek Tartarus or the Biblical Gehenna—symbols of an "earthly hell" for those who violate social norms. The penitentiary has thus become an internalized cultural space, with a long period of institutional development leading to its current form.

In recent decades, the institution has undergone functional "humanization," yet it remains vulnerable to bureaucratic incoherence and institutional dysfunctions that impair its capacity for re-education and social reintegration. The present work aligns with the effort to evaluate the systemic functionality of the penitentiary through a holistic approach that analyzes not only the institution's performance in itself but also the connections and blockages within the wider institutional network.

The goal of the research is a phenomenological exploration of the effects of detention, both during incarceration and after release, in order to highlight the influence of interactions between the individual and the institutions of the penal trajectory (police, prosecution, judiciary, penitentiary) on individual behavior and the reintegration process. The main hypothesis asserts that these interactions generate persistent psychosocial effects that impact the ability to desist from crime, beginning with pre-trial detention and continuing after release.

To validate the hypothesis, the research uses semi-structured interviews conducted with a sample of 17 former inmates, built around a thematic grid regarding the effects of detention. This approach was supplemented by the analysis of social documents, social mapping (to understand the limitation of interactions in the carceral space), and case studies. The interviews were conducted outside the penitentiary, in a safe environment and close in time to the detention experience, allowing for the expression of details that are hard to capture through quantitative methods or observation.

The research findings support the hypothesis; thus, detention is conceptualized as a gradual experience, a process that begins before entry into the penitentiary and extends long after release, through psychological and social effects.

The work offers an original approach in which detention is understood as a continuum, not as an isolated moment. This perspective allows the inclusion of intra-psychic and social variables, reflected through a phenomenological lens, in the analysis of detention's impact. The phenomenological approach made it possible to highlight the influence of the penitentiary environment as well as prior variables (biographical, institutional) on the behavior of the person who was deprived of liberty.

The phenomenological interview method provided an opportunity for guided retrospection, allowing subjects to reflect on their own trajectory and to express the experiences and challenges they faced. At the same time, the approach avoided limiting the research to a blunt description of detention, which is characteristic of some quantitative methods. Most previous research has focused on a narrow register of effects, whereas this work proposes a broader and more interdependent perspective.

This study aligns with the tradition of scientific research on the penal system and total institutions (Goffman, 1961; Sykes, 1958). Important contributions to understanding the effects of detention come from Liebling and Maruna (2005), Haney (2012, 2018), Braman (2004), Comfort (2008), Smyth (2009), and Fassin (2018). Fassin shows that the experience of detention results from a complex chain of decisions and procedures, filled with nuances and prejudices that deeply influence the life of the incarcerated person.

In Romania, significant research on this topic includes the works of Bruno Ștefan (2006), the project coordinated by Dobrică (2008), Banciu (2010), Badea (2010), Dâmboeanu (2015), Rotariu (2016), Durnescu (2017, 2019), Tarău (2015), Ilie et al. (2019), and the evaluation of reintegration policies by Dumitran (2024). These provide a useful framework for understanding prison life, violence, daily practices, and the difficulties of reintegration in the Romanian context.

In this context, the present research contributes to the understanding of detention in Romania through a phenomenological approach to the penal trajectory. It identifies the critical moments of psychological and social impact of detention and provides a foundation for effective rehabilitation and reintegration policies. The main beneficiaries are former inmates, prison staff, and, in the long term, society as a whole.

Chapter 1

THEORIES OF DEVIANCE IN SOCIETY AND IN THE PRISON ENVIRONMENT. RECIDIVISM AND DESISTANCE

The multiple theoretical explanations of criminality range from biological to psychological dimensions and have evolved toward concepts that integrate cultural, macro-, and micro-social factors. Theories of deviance and criminality are useful for understanding the motivational mechanisms behind deviant behavior, the constitutive elements of criminality, and the conditions that sustain criminal conduct. It was deemed necessary to present some of these theories precisely to index those factors that encourage delinquent behavior and are perpetuated within the context of detention.

1.1. Concepts, Definitions, and Accepted Meanings

Deviance is understood as a behavior, a belief system, or traits manifested by a small number of individuals, which lead to their marginalization or stigmatization. Deviance is defined socially, according to the cultural, historical, and contextual norms of a society (Goode, 2015:4). Crime represents a specific form of deviance that is legally sanctioned, situated at the extreme of the deviance continuum (ibid., p. 21). It involves both informal condemnation (negative social reactions) and formal condemnation (legal punishment), and the stigma associated with the acquired legal status has lasting effects on the individual's social position.

Positivist sociology emphasizes the objective nature of crime, whereas constructionists analyze the social process of labeling and defining behaviors as deviant. These differences in perspective are essential for understanding the phenomenon of delinquency and for analyzing the impact of detention.

1.2. Sociological Theories of Delinquency

1.2.1. Theories of Social Anomie and Strain

Durkheim argued that deviance is normal and serves a social function, but anomie (the breakdown of norms) emerges in modern societies when solidarity diminishes (Durkheim, 2005:214–217). Merton (1938) expanded this idea into a structural-functionalist theory, claiming that the discrepancy between cultural goals and the legitimate means available creates strain and fosters deviant behavior. In prisons, this strain manifests through the incongruity between the desire for better conditions and the lack of permitted means to achieve them (Florian, 2022).

1.2.2. Cultural Transmission Theories

Cohen states that young people from disadvantaged classes, faced with the impossibility of accessing middle-class values, develop an alternative, negativist, and autonomous subculture. Cloward and Ohlin identify three types of delinquent subcultures (criminal, conflict, retreatist), depending on access to illegal opportunities. Miller views delinquency as an expression of the lower-class value system (Lilly et al., 2019). These values, internalized outside the prison, are imported into the carceral system and perpetuated as part of a prison subculture (Mears et al., 2013).

1.2.3. Labeling Theory

Becker (1966) argues that deviance is the product of the social process of labeling, rather than an intrinsic quality of an act. Thus, labeling an individual as an "offender" contributes to their marginalization—an effect observable both during detention and after release through the discrimination and exclusion they experience (Mingus & Burchfield, 2012).

1.2.4. Differential Association Theory

Sutherland argued that criminality is learned through contact with individuals who provide favorable definitions of law-breaking. Deviant behaviors are learned voluntarily but are influenced by the social context of belonging (Cullen, 2010). Hyland et al. (2012) show that associations with delinquent individuals and criminal attitudes are the strongest predictors of recidivism. In this sense, the prison is seen as a "pathological institution" (Florian, 2009), as it brings together individuals with various forms of deviant behavior.

1.3. Recidivism and Desistance

Recidivism, an indicator of the effectiveness of penal policies, is legally defined in Romania as the commission of a new offense after a final conviction (Law no. 286/2009, Art. 46). In sociology, recidivism is viewed as reoffending, meaning the reappearance of criminal behavior within a certain time frame after conviction (Nagin, Cullen & Johnson in Dâmboeanu, 2015:15–16).

Desistance is the process by which criminal behavior stops (Laub & Sampson, 2001). The "life-course" theory explains these changes through shifts in social bonds (family, work, support networks), which can act as "turning points" in the renunciation of criminal conduct. Residential environment, the quality of the support network, and social reintegration policies are key factors that can either encourage desistance or, conversely, contribute to recidivism (Smith, 2015).

Chapter 2

THE SOCIOLOGY OF PUNISHMENT

Punishment is a universal psychosocial instrument, born out of the necessity to maintain social cohesion and order within communities (Durkheim, 1984:91; Garland, 1991; Garfield et al., 2023:2). It involves the imposition of material or moral costs on those who violate norms (idem) and is approached from criminological, philosophical, and sociological perspectives.

2.1. The Morality of Punishment

Hart (1959, in Fassin, 2018:33) defines punishment as an unpleasant consequence objectively imposed by a legal authority on someone who has challenged that authority. Utilitarian theories, inspired by Plato (Abolafia, 2024:7), seemingly follow this definition and explain the rationale of punishment through its functions of deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation.

Deterrence discourages offenders, but its effectiveness is contested (Nagin, 2013; Raskolnikov, 2020), and its adverse effects include stigmatization (Fassin, 2018:75). Incapacitation involves isolating dangerous offenders (Brooks, 2012:37 in Banks, 2020:158), yet it is criticized for judging based on risk rather than facts (Pershan, n.d.:398) and for ignoring social context (Binder & Notterman, 2017:4). Rehabilitation, dominant until the 1970s (Bosworth, 2005:831), is considered a "treatment" tailored to the inmate's needs (Banks, 2020), but it is criticized for idealism and the difficulty of measuring its effectiveness (idem).

Retributive theories define punishment as the payment of a moral debt, initially without punitive but compensatory connotations (Malinowski 1926 in Fassin, 2018:3–4; Vulcănescu, 1970). Under the influence of religion, retribution becomes an act of expiatory suffering (Fassin, 2018:52), a notion still present today in the secular form of "paying one's debt to society." However, the emotional component of retribution (revenge) contradicts the ideal of objectivity (Uduigwomen, 2003:11).

Restorative justice theory proposes the repair of relationships among victim, offender, and community as an alternative to isolation (Banks, 2020:159–161). Its limits include difficulty of application in cases of severe legal violations and the risk of suppressing social emotions (Garland, 1990). A compromise is suggested: decriminalizing minor offenses while maintaining firm punishment for serious crimes.

2.2. The Functions of Punishment

In Durkheimian thought, punishment, divided into restitutive and repressive measures, contributes to maintaining social cohesion. Criminal law predominates in traditional societies, while commercial (restitutive) law is characteristic of modern societies; the type of law reflects the society's complexity. Penal punishment is a moral reaction to the violation of deep social values, with its main function being the reaffirmation of social solidarity through the strengthening of collective conscience (Durkheim, 1984:39). Thus, modern punishment—especially imprisonment—protects collective values and reaffirms social cohesion, acting as an expression of deep social response. It serves less to deter or reform the offender than to reaffirm social solidarity by uniting those morally affected.

Garland (2001) criticizes the Durkheimian perspective, arguing that the lack of public visibility in incarceration limits punishment's role in restoring social solidarity. However, this role may be taken over by mass media, which publicly exposes arrests. Garland also reproaches the overemphasis on custodial sentences at the expense of alternatives. The idea of general moral consensus is also contested, as legislative and judicial groups may have different interests from the rest of society (Burkhardt and Connor, 2015). Nevertheless, Durkheim remains relevant for highlighting the symbolic and expressive function of punishment (Garland, 2001).

2.3. Punishment as Part of the Bureaucratic Process of Penal Institutions and a Disciplinary Mechanism

Max Weber describes modern institutions through bureaucratic rationality: impersonal rules, hierarchies, and efficiency. Within this framework, incarceration becomes a disciplinary tool (Foucault, 2012:16). It subjects the body and mind of the convict to a coherent system of constraints, aimed at adapting them to a socially defined normality (Garland, 1990). Foucault analyzes the functioning of the punitive mechanism, not the entire process of punishment, without denying its symbolic-emotional dimension (Foucault, 2012:138; Garland, 1990:314).

2.4. The Marxist Perspective: Punishment as a Mechanism for Regulating the Economic Market

Rusche and Kirchheimer (2017) argue that punishment reflects the economic interests of elites. Each era is associated with a particular model of economic exploitation: forced labor, fines, galleys, and in the industrial era, prison labor. While explanatory, this approach is considered reductive (Garland, 1991), ignoring other factors that shape punishment (e.g., religion, organized

crime, labor unions). Still, the theory is relevant for understanding the structure of the penitentiary, built on the value of inmates' labor and penitence (Ignatief, 1978; Ferro, 2006; Sapouna et al., 2015).

2.5. Punishment in Cultural Context

Corporal punishments have gradually been replaced by imprisonment under increasingly humane conditions (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018). Elias's civilizing process theory explains the shift of punishment into the private sphere, concealing violence and transforming it into a rational institutional mechanism (Elias, 1994; Garland, 2001). However, contemporary prison realities partly contradict this theory (Fassin, 2018). For a comprehensive understanding, punishment must be viewed as a complex institutional system with social, economic, symbolic, and disciplinary functions (Durkheim; Foucault; Garland, 1991).

2.6. The Penal Code and the Regulation of Punishment

An essential component of the iter poenae (the path of pain, the penal route) for a person deprived of liberty is their interaction with the systems responsible for maintaining social order. A detainee's path to rehabilitation begins at the moment of arrest, with the establishment of consequences for their actions. Rehabilitation, defined as "the cessation of all disqualifications and the consequences of a suffered conviction" (Antoniu et al., 2010:183), is instituted following faultless behavior towards the law and the repayment of obligations (Law no. 286/2009, art. 168). In reality, rehabilitation is a long-term process in which the former convict—often stripped of rights, lacking social support, and stigmatized—must secure a livelihood and reintegrate. The recidivism rate in Romania (36.93% in 2022) and in other countries (Finland 33%, Denmark 32%, the Netherlands 24.6%, Austria 24.3%, Norway 17.6% in 2018, according to ANP 2024 and Yukhenko et al., 2023) indicates the difficulty of this path. As individuals age and become more isolated with fewer professional opportunities, the risk of recidivism increases (Uggen, C., 2000; Błędowski et al., 2023).

We chose to present the evolution of the Penal Code to understand its functioning and influence on detention, beyond the legal qualification of acts and sanctions. The historical analysis of criminal legislation reveals both elements of continuity and significant transformations. It was observed that, for a long time, criminal law prescribed sanctions based on social status, and the application of norms was influenced by interests that went beyond judicial fairness. Although space does not allow for an in-depth analysis of the persistence of certain elements in the Romanian

Penal Code (e.g., applying laws based on status, the influence of foreign codes or divine authority), its importance in shaping detention and its effects is evident.

2.6.1. The Sacred Origins of Law

The earliest legislative codes, such as the Code of Hammurabi (circa 1700 BCE), attributed divine character to law, a notion adopted by other ancient societies (Wright, 2009). Philosophers such as Plato (1995:42–48) and Aristotle (1998, 2004) distinguished between natural and positive laws, while Cicero viewed natural law as an expression of universal and divine reason (Atkins, 2013:165, 170). Roman jurisprudence, through Gaius and Ulpian, separated jus gentium (universal law) from jus civile (law specific to each state) (Abdy & Walker, 1876; Gaius, 1958; Kolbert, 1979).

In the Middle Ages, Roman law codified by Justinian influenced both canon and secular law. Gratian placed natural law as a divine expression at the center of his Decretum (Gratian, 1993:34–36; Christense in Gratian, 1993:12), while Alberico Gentili proposed a legal separation from theology (Domingo & Minnuci, 2020:13–14). Montesquieu (1977) argued that laws reflect the conditions of society. Bentham (1781/2000) defined law as the will of the sovereign intended to maintain social balance.

In Tönnies' sociological view (1961, 2016), law evolves from custom to positive law, protecting individual liberties over traditional community norms. Durkheim (in Sutton, 2001; Banciu, 1995) considered this separation an adaptation to organic social solidarity, where civil law regulates cooperation and criminal law protects the society's core values. Weber (1978) interpreted law as an expression of legal-rational authority, while functionalist sociologists Talcott Parsons and Robert K. Merton (Banciu, 1995) attributed to it both social integration functions and inevitable dysfunctions.

Dongoroz (1936) proposed a socio-legal approach, defining law as an epiphenomenon of social life meant to maintain order through rules recognized and enforced by public authority. The Penal Code distinguishes between reparative, repressive, and preventive sanctions. Dongoroz explained the evolution of law from disproportionate revenge to a modern, rationalized system with the state holding the monopoly over punishment (Dongoroz, 1936; Banciu, 1995; Coyle, 2005). The modern Penal Code is the main instrument of social control, clearly establishing offenses, penalties, and methods of enforcement, ensuring economic and social security.

2.6.2. The Evolution of the Romanian Penal Code: From Primitive Communities to Modernity

The evolution of Romanian criminal law reflects a transition from archaic customary norms influenced by religion and social status to a modern legal system of Western inspiration. In the pre-Roman period, justice was integrated into the sacred sphere, and harsh punishments reflected social inequalities (Negoiță, 2019; Guțan, 2017; Hanga, 1980). After the Roman conquest, a legal distinction emerged based on political status (Negoiță, 2019; Guțan, 2017). Later, in village communities, sanctions ranged from symbolic to corporal and were administered by community leaders (Vulcănescu, 1970).

During feudalism, the Law of the Land, based on customary law, also included Byzantine and Slavic legal codes, maintaining arbitrariness in sanctions. Subsequent codifications favored elites, preserving harsh corporal punishments for other social categories (Berechet, 1933; Hanga, 1970; Rădulescu et al., 1961). In Transylvania, criminal law developed under Austro-Hungarian influence, with a more structured conceptualization of criminal responsibility (Guṭan, 2017).

The Phanariot era prepared modernization through codes such as the Pravilniceasca Condică and the Calimach Code. The Organic Regulations and the 1864 Penal Code enshrined modern principles such as equality before the law and the classification of offenses (Berechet, 1930; Firoiu, 1976; Fratoștițeanu, 1885). However, later amendments often served the interests of the state and capital (Guțan, 2017). After 1918, the 1937 Penal Code introduced progressive elements such as rehabilitation, but the authoritarian interwar regimes again turned it into a repressive instrument, with harsh penalties and ethnically differentiated application (Regatul României, 1938; Doboș, 2013).

2.6.3. The Penal Code during the Communist Period and the Transition to the Modern Penal Code

After 1944, the Romanian legal system was subordinated to the communist regime, and criminal law became an instrument of repression. Between 1944–1948, previous laws were annulled, politically convicted individuals were granted amnesty, and new normative acts were issued to suppress opposition (Crăcană, 2015). Laws targeting economic sabotage and speculation were introduced, alongside rewards for informants. Justice became selective, influenced by the social status of the defendants, and the criminal codes were repeatedly modified. The role of the criminal investigation and the prosecutor was diminished, while repressive institutions such as the

Securitate (Secret Police) and the Miliție (Militia) were granted expanded powers (ibid., pp. 30–35).

The Penal Code adopted in 1968 remained in force until 1989 and aimed to defend "the legal order and the rules of social coexistence" in the Socialist Republic of Romania. Punishments were limited to imprisonment (15 days to 25 years) or fines, with the death penalty reserved for exceptional cases (Great National Assembly, 1968). Mandatory labor was still enforced, and educational actions were added to support the reeducation of the convict.

The new Penal Code, which came into effect in 2014, is structured in two parts: a general part (definitions) and a special part (classification of offenses). It includes 257 new offenses and redefines others, such as theft and corruption (Paşca et al., 2012). The sanctioning system is more flexible, allowing for greater individualization of punishment, including alternative measures (suspension, probation, personalized fines, security measures). The main penalties remain imprisonment and fines, but the new Code also allows for the commutation of life sentences and provides conditions for sentence suspension (Law no. 286/2009).

However, the definition of recidivism has consequences for rehabilitation. According to Law no. 289/2009, recidivism occurs when a person commits a new offense after a final conviction of at least one year of imprisonment, before legal, judicial, or statutory rehabilitation. One consequence is the aggravation of penal treatment, which limits the rehabilitative function in favor of incapacitation and deterrence. This approach contributes to the overcrowding of penitentiaries, especially in cases of non-violent recidivism, where detention may be excessive (Durnescu, 2001). Additionally, the legal regime of recidivism reinforces stigmatization through the mention of a criminal past ("known for prior offenses"), even after rehabilitation.

The Penal Code serves as the framework for evaluating crimes and punishments, while the Code of Criminal Procedure outlines their application—together they determine the penal trajectory. We have used historical analysis to understand the persistent variables and the transformations of older conceptions. We have observed that, for a long time, judgment depended on social status, and the application of laws was sometimes influenced by interests unrelated to justice. Although we cannot draw definitive conclusions about the persistence of these elements in the New Penal Code, socio-legal scholars should more closely examine how the Penal Code influences the experience of detention—through the tendency to associate harsher custodial

sentences with certain offenses, the way the criminal record is defined and managed, and the reconsideration of the legal consequences of recidivism.

Chapter 3

THE INSTITUTIONS OF THE PENAL PATH

3.1. The Police – First Contact with the Judicial System

3.1.1. Origins of the Police Institution: From State's Partner to Citizen's Ally

It is difficult to imagine a society without a police force. In Romania, the necessity of its intervention is evident in the high frequency of emergency calls—over 10 million in 2023 (Special Telecommunications Service, 2024). The modern police institution, established in liberal states in the second half of the 18th century, is fundamental for maintaining social order (Mladek et al., 2007:2–3; Robinson & Scaglion, 1987:110) and for reinforcing the state by enabling mutually beneficial social relations (ibid., p.58).

The police have the authority to monitor, warn, sanction, detain, and in extreme cases, use coercive force—a monopoly crucial in urban environments characterized by anonymity and stratification (Bittner, 1970:120–121; Haas, 1982:173–174, in Robinson & Scaglion, 1987:109). The origins of police can be traced to the transition from primitive to more complex societies. Initially tasked with protecting the nobility, police functions expanded with industrialization and urbanization.

3.1.2. The Police as a More Efficient Mechanism of Social Control

The modern police institution emerged after 1815, when military forces were deemed inefficient for internal peacekeeping. Military intervention was often destructive and failed to deter crime, clashing with the ideals of civility upheld by the elites of the Industrial Revolution (Bittner, 1970:20). Consequently, modern police were created to support state structures through crime control and law enforcement (ibid., p.22).

In Romania, the police followed a similar historical trajectory. It evolved during the dissolution of kin-based communities and the formation of medieval states. Under the Organic Regulations, the Agia was reorganized and renamed the Police (ibid., pp.13–15). As society grew more complex,

the institution expanded its departments and responsibilities. Until 1949, police duties included food price control, public order, shop hours, cleanliness, and public lighting (idem).

Under the communist regime after 1949, the police became the Miliţia, a militarized and repressive arm of the Communist Party. Initially responsible for issuing identity documents (Crap, 2024:52), its functions grew to include protecting socialist property and engaging in political repression, including surveillance of both Romanian and foreign citizens (ibid.; CIA, 2016a in Crap, 2024:53).

3.1.3. Transition: The Context of Reforming the Romanian Police

Romania's democratic transition post-1989 brought substantial changes to the police, which resumed its mission to protect fundamental rights, public order, private property, and to prevent criminal activities. However, the transition occurred in a socially volatile context, which enabled the emergence of organized crime networks (Pitulescu, 1996). These included remnants of Soviet mafias, as well as Arab, Chinese, and Roma groups, which developed clientelistic networks with political, judicial, and police actors, shielding criminals from legal accountability.

Compounding these challenges were institutional underfunding and internal vulnerabilities—leadership corruption, imposters in key positions, and compromised officers (Şinca, 2019). Despite this, Romanian Police officers managed to keep crime rates relatively low, with an average of 1,810 incidents per 100,000 inhabitants between 2014 and 2023 (INSSE). This performance helped Romania rise from 45th place in the Global Peace Index (2010) to 32nd in 2024 (Global Peace Index, 2010, 2024). The police have adapted to new forms of crime, including Romania's shift from a transit country to a drug market and the emergence of cybercrime and financial crimes.

3.1.4. Contested Authority: Public Perceptions of Police Officers

Public perceptions of the police range from respect to contempt, heavily shaped by incidents of corruption or incompetence. The police are often stereotyped as lacking intellectual training and moral integrity (Şinca, 2019). Their primary mission—ensuring public order and preventing danger—can result in perceived discriminatory practices, especially against marginalized or minority groups (Bittner, 1970; Baker et al., 2011:24).

This ambivalence is fueled by the institutional history of the police and its monopoly on the use of force, which carries risks of abuse. Frequent interaction with offenders can lead to the adoption of similar language and attitudes by police officers, reinforcing negative public perceptions

(Bittner, 1970). Media portrayals and memories of the Miliția exacerbate these representations, contributing to public distrust.

Such perceptions can hinder cooperation with law enforcement and increase police stress (Vila, 2006). Encounters with the police can have lasting consequences—arrests or criminal fines may limit employment opportunities. Moreover, the way officers draft reports can influence judicial decisions, extending police influence beyond the initial stage of criminal procedure.

As the first point of contact in the criminal justice system, police interactions have a major psychological impact on individuals. Disrespectful behavior by citizens can stem from previous impolite or unjust treatment or from the perceived lack of legitimacy of the police (Tedeschi & Felson, 1994 in Engel, 2003:478–479). Ultimately, the police, as the entry gate to the criminal pathway, shape both individual experiences and collective trust in the justice system.

3.2. The Accuser and the Defender

3.2.1. The Prosecutor's Office

The origins of the prosecutor's office lie in the inquisitorial system, evolving in 14th-century France from the figure of the king's lawyer (Duţu et al., 2017:20). Over time, the prosecutor became the guarantor of the public interest, a role strengthened during the French Revolution by integrating the office into the judiciary (ibid., p.21). In the Romanian Principalities, the Public Ministry emerged under the Organic Regulations, influenced by French and Austrian models (ibid., p.24), and gained institutional coherence after the 1859 Union.

Currently, Law 300/2004 (art. 63) states that the prosecutor's main responsibility is conducting criminal investigations. The prosecutor coordinates judicial police work and decides whether to prosecute. However, institutional shortcomings—staff shortages, passivity, and lack of coherence—impede performance (ibid., p.272). Practices such as the "handcuff spectacle" damage the perception of prosecutorial impartiality. The Criminal Procedure Code (arts. 320, 478) grants prosecutors the power to propose sentences, potentially leading to premature convictions (Kremens, 2021:4).

The prosecutor's active role in investigations raises questions about objectivity (Kremens, 2021:12–13). The phenomenon of "tunnel vision"—professional pressure and the institutional drive to confirm guilt—has been documented in the Romanian context through acquittals in high-profile cases (Findley & Scott, 2006; Mandelski, 2020). Levine (2016) notes that inexperienced

prosecutors are more prone to error due to career pressures. External influences, such as the EU's Cooperation and Verification Mechanism (MCV), can also sway institutional prosecution policy.

3.3. The Defense Attorney

The institution of legal defense dates back to ancient Athens and existed in Roman Dacia (Duţu, 2001:13; Ţop, 2014:9). In the Middle Ages, attorneys acted on behalf of clients under formal mandates, with bar associations becoming officially organized during the Organic Regulations period. Cuza's reforms imposed strict professional rules and disciplinary councils, while the 1907 law introduced free legal aid.

During communism, the attorney was reduced to an executor of "popular justice" (Crăcană, 2015), but post-1990 reforms restored the lawyer's role as a human rights defender (Arsenie, 2020). Today, attorneys support defendants throughout the criminal process, maintain family contact, and devise legal defense strategies (UNBR, 2011).

The defense attorney serves as a control mechanism within punitive institutions. Positive perceptions by defendants increase when lawyers succeed in reducing sentences (Balica, 2014). However, public trust in attorneys remains low (26%, IRES, 2013), mainly due to poorly funded and underperforming court-appointed lawyers (UNBR). This poor representation undermines trust in justice and contributes to prison overcrowding (Bright, 2010).

3.4. The Judicial Authority

The judge plays a pivotal role in the criminal justice process, as the authority who ultimately decides the sentence. This function is rooted in ancient needs for order and fairness, which are vital to social cooperation (Malinowski in Donovan, 2008). In primitive societies, adjudication was performed by elders, charismatic leaders, priests, or shamans; during the Middle Ages, rulers delegated this role (Weber, 1978:762).

3.4.1. Historical Overview of the Judge's Role in Romania

In traditional Romanian villages, justice was delivered by kinship groups ("cetele de neam") (Vulcănescu, 1970:49). In feudal times, the role passed to officials under the prince, who was the supreme judge and profited from fines, encouraging abuse (Giurescu, 1943:488). During the Phanariot era, salaried "great judges" emerged, separated from revenue collection (Giurescu, 1944, 1946; Dimiu, 1929). The Organic Regulations introduced judicial irremovability, and the 1866 Constitution and 1924 Law reinforced judicial independence (Negulescu & Alexianu, 1944; Ursulescu, 2007).

Under communism, courts were politicized. Institutions such as the People's Tribunal operated without requiring legal training for lay judges (asesori populari) (Crăcană, 2015). Today, the judiciary includes district courts, tribunals, courts of appeal, the High Court of Cassation and Justice (ÎCCJ), and the Superior Council of Magistracy (CSM). The ÎCCJ ensures uniform application of the law (Law 304/2022), and the CSM advises on the appointment of chief prosecutors (Tomuş, 2018; Popa, 2020). Justice is free of charge, although parties must cover procedural expenses (Tomuş, 2018).

3.4.2. Threats to Judicial Independence

Agencies like SIPA and protocols with the Romanian Intelligence Service (SRI) have exerted pressure on magistrates (Andronic, 2017; Popa, 2020). The Section for Investigating Judicial Offenses (SIIJ), created in 2018 to probe magistrates, was accused of interfering with justice and dismissing over 400 cases. It was restructured in 2022 (Chiş, 2023). Law 207/2018 strengthened a decision-making elite allegedly prone to abuse. These developments contributed to low public trust in judicial independence (37–52%, European Commission, 2016–2024).

3.4.3. Functional Analysis of the Judicial System

A recent report (Ministry of Justice, World Bank, 2023) notes that while the overall number of judges is adequate, distribution is uneven, overburdening some courts. Other systemic issues include mass retirement (judges can retire after 25 years with 80% of gross salary, ibid., p.177), and a two-step promotion process. The system also risks depopulation as judges who entered the profession in the 1990s approach retirement.

Inconsistent interpretation of unclear laws leads to disparate decisions and tarnishes judicial credibility (ibid., pp.101–102). Despite a 100% case resolution rate, decisions are often delayed due to lengthy justifications (ibid., p.272).

Access to justice is hindered by poor online communication and limited public awareness of procedures—over 70% of citizens report being poorly informed, and more than half are unaware that court decisions are publicly accessible (ibid., p.101). Budgetary constraints (90% allocated to salaries) limit investment in infrastructure, support staff, and digital systems (ibid., p.20). Weak media engagement further contributes to public distrust (CEPEJ, 2018).

Public trust in judges fluctuates, influenced by lack of transparency, limited access to information, and judicial benefits. The judge's role is shaped by institutional structure, professional

culture, and public perception—factors that may weaken justice's reparative function when decisions are viewed as unjust.

Chapter 4

THE PENITENTIARY – A MODERN INSTITUTION WITH ARCHAIC ORIGINS AND THE SUBJECTS OF THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE PATH

4.1. Archaic Origins of the Prison

The idea of incarceration as punishment can be traced back to Antiquity. Plato theorized prison through the metaphor of Hades, suggesting an archetypal root for the institution (Abolafia, 2024:50). In ancient Athens, prison served as a punitive space for the political elite, offering a form of shame-based deterrence as an alternative to the humiliation of slavery (ibid., pp.29, 69).

4.2. Pillars of the Prison Institution

During the Renaissance, Thomas More combined Platonic ideas with monastic asceticism and Roman law in Utopia, laying the foundation for the modern prison based on labor, isolation, and penitence (Abolafia, 2024:11). Reform through education and productive work became essential (Plato, 1995:110, 246). Monastic cloistering and the use of monasteries as detention spaces heavily influenced the institutional structure of the prison (Fassin, 2018:35; Ferro, 2006:4).

4.3. The Prison as Part of the Industrial Production System

Under capitalism, labor became central to prison life, serving as a tool to discipline and reform the poor (Fassin, 2018; Abolafia, 2024). Prisons began producing not goods, but "new people" (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018:204). Early institutions like Bridewell and Rasp House were primarily designed for social and economic control (Rusche & Kirchheimer, 2003:33, 45). John Howard promoted a punitive but humane Christian model (Ignatieff, 1978), though ultimately it was aimed at labor regulation (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018). Bentham's Panopticon became a key theoretical model for penitentiary design (Foucault, 1995:200).

The emergence of the modern prison, from Athens to Birmingham, was driven by economic, religious, and political factors. Systems such as the Philadelphia and Auburn models introduced inmate classification, education, and parole. Quaker reformers professionalized prison management but often inadvertently produced psychological and physical suffering, marginalizing the very populations they sought to reform (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018).

4.4. Laboratory Prisons and Warehouse Prisons

In the 20th century, prisons evolved into "laboratories" for studying criminal typologies, focusing on classification and rehabilitation (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018:208). In the late 20th century, rehabilitation gave way to punitive strategies emphasizing incapacitation and deterrence (Garland, 2001). Actuarial criminology introduced risk-based assessments for inmate selection, emphasizing prevention over reform (Boone & van Swaaningen, 2013). Offenders became enemies to be controlled through surveillance and punishment (Melossi & Pavarini, 2018; Garland, 2001).

This led to the emergence of "warehouse prisons," exemplifying mass incarceration and penal privatization, where the offender holds economic utility (Yagunov, 2024). A panoptic society begins to take shape, with prison-style control threatening to extend across broader social domains (ibid.).

4.5. The Prison Institution in Romania

Western influence on Romanian prisons began with John Howard's visit, which contributed to humanizing detention (Ştefan, 2006:494). However, the first documented initiative belonged to Nicolae Mavrocordat, who saw imprisonment as a space for healing (ibid., p.498). Before that, detention did not exist as punishment—offenders were held in cellars pending execution (Gorăscu, 1930:3).

4.5.1. Monastic Prisons

Medieval monasteries housed nobles, clergy, and women, serving as places of detention and torture (Brăescu, 2019:70). 17th-century legal codes (pravile) formalized prison as a punitive space (Rădulescu et al., 1962:170). In Transylvania, Habsburg influence promoted better-organized detention regimes (Ștefan, 2006:491).

4.5.2. Early Steps in Modernizing the Romanian Prison System

The Organic Regulations (1831–1832) banned torture and the death penalty, but detention infrastructure remained underdeveloped (Goga, 2015:61). Dodun's reform (1855–1876) introduced inmate classification and prison labor (Ştefan, 2006:496), though the 1874 law saw limited implementation (Pahoni, 2012:103). The 1929 law emphasized reeducation, but WWII and communism reversed this trajectory. Under Ceauşescu, inmates became an industrial labor force (Law 23/1969), and penal modernization stagnated due to socio-economic conditions (Murgescu, 2010).

4.5.3. Prisons in Transition

Post-1989, Romania inherited an outdated penitentiary system with 31 prisons and poor conditions (HRW, 1992). Overcrowding was acute (41,300 inmates vs. 29,400 places), with dire hygiene, nutrition, and infrastructure. Many staff were ex-communist officers, and abusive practices continued (Ştefan, 2006:504). Between 1995–2004, APADOR-CH documented substandard conditions and reported abuses, revolts, and suspicious deaths (APADOR-CH, 2004:66). Improvements came with demilitarization in 2004 and Law 275/2006, which introduced inmates' rights and conditional release. Law 254/2013 further consolidated these reforms, though problems like outdated infrastructure, overcrowding, and understaffing remain (Ilie et al., 2019:120).

4.5.4. The Current State of Romanian Prisons

As of 2025, the system includes 35 prisons, 2 detention centers, 2 educational centers, and 6 prison hospitals (ANP, 2024). The occupancy rate stood at 118%. Romania's incarceration rate (118 per 100,000 inhabitants) and average sentence length (4.1 years) are above the EU average (Aebi et al., 2023), reflecting a punitive penal policy. Detention costs remain low (41.91 euro/day vs. 131.95 euro/day in the EU), while mortality rates are higher, despite lower suicide rates.

Law 254/2013 defines four detention regimes (maximum security, closed, semi-open, open), with proportionate rights and obligations. Inmates are guaranteed access to information, labor, education, visitation, and medical care. Sanctions range from warnings to solitary confinement, while good behavior is rewarded. Release can occur either at the end of the sentence or conditionally.

4.6. Conclusion on the Evolution of the Penitentiary Institution

The penitentiary evolved from an archetypal concept of penitence into a tool for social control shaped by industrialization and Protestant ethics. From the Athenian jail to the modern penitentiary, it has reflected power dynamics and the moral framework of its society. In Romania, this evolution has been asynchronous, marked by historical peculiarities and institutional delays. While some moments of modernization occurred (e.g., the 1874 Prison Law, the 1929 reform), the system remained anachronistic for a long time. Post-communist reforms have been partial, hampered by outdated infrastructure, overcrowding, and punitive policies. Today, Romanian detention represents a transitional model, navigating between penal reforms and limited resources.

Analyzing the relationship between inmates and the penitentiary must consider this complex history and the tensions between reeducation ideals and social control functions.

4.7. Subjects of the Criminal Justice Path

This research focuses on the prison population, which fluctuated significantly, mirroring trends in criminality. The crime rate decreased from 336 in 2000 to 152 in 2009, later stabilizing between 152 and 185 up to 2023. Similarly, the infraction rate dropped from 1577 in 2000 to 873.9 in 2008, then stabilized between 1700–1900 until 2023.

4.7.1. Demographics of the Prison Population

The prison population halved in the past two decades, from an average of 45,425.6 (2000–2004) to 22,877.6. The most significant reductions occurred during 2005–2009 (-33%, linked to EU accession) and 2015–2019 (-22%, reflecting the effects of the compensatory appeal law). These dynamics, correlated with legal reforms and ECHR rulings, highlight the influence of external pressure on inmate management.

Men represent 95.6% of inmates, with a median age of 37. The largest age group is 26–49, with 18–25 and 50–64 accounting for similar proportions (Aebi et al., 2023).

Between 2010 and 2023, the offense profile changed significantly. While thefts halved, economic crimes increased by over 500%, and sexual and drug-related offenses nearly doubled (Aebi et al., 2010, 2023).

In 2022, educational data (ANP, 2022 in Dumitran, 2024) showed 59.7% of inmates had only primary education, 8.6% had completed high school, and 3.5% held a university degree. Illiteracy was six times higher (6.7%) than in the general population.

Occupationally, only 22% were employed before arrest, 62.7% were unemployed at incarceration, and just 10% had professional qualifications (idem). This profile partly explains recidivism in Romania. Education affects labor market access (Hajdari & Fetai, 2024), and stable employment reduces the risk of reoffending (Ramakers et al., 2017).

4.7.2. Psychological Aspects of the Prison Population

The prison environment is a key factor in recidivism, facilitating criminal behavior through differential association (Sutherland, 2010). When rehabilitation programs fail, recidivism risk increases (Loeffler & Nagin, 2022). Adaptation strategies—such as resisting authority—may also contribute to reoffending (Cochran et al., 2012).

Prisoners' psychology is deeply shaped by isolation. Florian (2009) notes key behavioral adaptations: exploring the environment, learning informal rules, integrating into inmate hierarchies, and focusing on the present as a coping mechanism. Group belonging within prison subculture is central. Through "prisonization," inmates internalize informal norms and the prison slang, undergoing both deculturation and enculturation (Gillespe, 2004 in Szabo, 2014:43). This internalization may reinforce the outsider stigma (Becker, 1966:163), generating a self-fulfilling prophecy with harmful effects. While prison subcultures valorize subversive behavior (Wooldredge, 2020), there are also tendencies toward restraint, conflict avoidance, and distancing from discredited individuals (Irwin, 2004 in Crew & Laws, 2018:134).

The 1980 UN Congress (Florian, 2009:112–113) classified inmates behaviorally: the "hardened delinquent" (mental illness, persistent aggression), the "dangerous delinquent" (psychopathy, lack of ideals), the "difficult delinquent" (rebellious, subculture-driven), the "long-term prisoner" (alienation-related issues), and the "social misfit" (addiction, psychiatric disorders).

External support is vital. Inmates with family backing and higher education adapt better, compensating psychologically through imagination (Florian, 2009:114). Without support networks, prison subculture and resignation dominate. Work brings psychological relief through structure, purpose, and outside contact (ibid.).

Chapter 5

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY FOR THE PHENOMENOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECTS OF DETENTION

5.1. Motivation for Choosing the Research Topic

This research delves into the prison environment—a complex and often misunderstood world, especially regarding the rehabilitation of inmates. Its social effectiveness lies in the interplay between formal institutional structures and informal dynamics, offering a societal mechanism for managing and deterring deviant behavior. The study contributes to a deeper understanding of how these mechanisms operate and impact individuals.

A major reason for selecting this topic stems from the recent transformations of the Romanian penitentiary system. Historically cyclical, the institution has continuously adapted to economic, political, and social pressures, oscillating between incapacitation and reform. Currently, the penitentiary system shows openness to rehabilitation-oriented solutions and strives to improve detention conditions. This research supports the institution in identifying and implementing context-appropriate rehabilitation strategies.

A phenomenological approach was considered particularly suitable for exploring the lived experience of detention. This method reconstructs incarceration from the perspective of former inmates, shedding light on the consequences of detention, when they take root, and how they manifest. By situating this analysis within the broader trajectory of the criminal justice process, it becomes possible to isolate and observe the effects of incarceration as they unfold within the institutional environment and across adjacent systems.

5.2. Aim, Hypothesis, Objectives, Research Questions, Concept Definition and Operationalization

5.2.1. Aim of the Research

The study aims to explore the phenomenological effects of detention by identifying the impact of deprivation of liberty—both during and after incarceration—and highlighting the factors that either hinder or support rehabilitation.

5.2.2. Hypothesis

The hypothesis states that a convict's interaction with each institution along the penal trajectory significantly influences their behavior during incarceration and after release. These effects begin during pre-trial detention and continue post-release, shaping psychological, personal, and social

dimensions, as well as affecting close social circles. These cumulative effects impact an individual's capacity for desistance. The expected results include a comprehensive identification of the effects of incarceration, groundwork for future quantitative studies, and the design of evidence-based guidelines for improving prison environments and rehabilitation programs.

5.2.3. Research Objectives

- O1. To offer a phenomenological description of the penal trajectory experienced by convicted individuals, beginning with the initiation of criminal investigation, home search, and encompassing all phases of institutionalization.
 - 1.1. To explore the effects of institutional procedures on former convicts at each stage of the penal process and how these shape their attitudes and behavior toward representatives of authority.
 - 1.2. To examine how these effects vary by social background, education level, recidivism status, and socio-professional condition..
- O2. To explore the personal and social consequences of incarceration after release.
 - 2.1. To examine how the former inmate status impacts access to the labor market.
 - 2.2. To analyze the dynamics of the former inmate's personal and social support networks.
- O.3. To explain coping strategies developed during incarceration and assess how these influence reintegration into society.

5.2.4. Research Questions

The study is guided by several key research questions regarding the role of the detention experience in shaping both the individual's and their close network's behavior, and the extent to which rehabilitation tools prove effective:

- Q1. How is the experience of incarceration internalized by the individual and their social milieu at each significant stage of the penal process?
- Q2. Does incarceration help the inmate gain better control over disordered impulses? Does it foster inner order? If so, through what mechanisms?
- Q3. Does detention strengthen or weaken the convict's social ties? And if so, with whom?
- Q4. Does incarceration psychologically and socially equip the individual for reintegration, or does it disempower them? How does this empowerment or disempowerment occur?

Q5. Which specific elements of the penal trajectory could be modified to better facilitate rehabilitation?

5.2.5. Concept Definition and Operationalization

Detention, as defined by the Romanian Penal Code (Articles 53, 56, and 60, Law no. 286/2009), refers to the punishment of deprivation of liberty executed in prisons or equivalent facilities. It is considered a "firm societal response" (Ilie et al., 2019) to legal violations. Since sentences between 2 and 5 years are the most common in Romania (ANP, 2016–2022; Aebi & Cocco, 2023), this category was used for sample selection.

The penal trajectory refers to the set of institutions and procedures an individual passes through from arrest to social reintegration or marginalization after serving a sentence. It constitutes a sequence of social interactions between the inmate and representatives of the criminal justice system.

Effects of detention encompass emotional, social, economic, and behavioral impacts resulting from arrest, accusation, and custody—affecting both individuals and their social circles during and after incarceration (Liebling & Maruna, 2005; Jonson, 2012). These effects may be visible or subtle and can manifest long after release as coping strategies (Haney, 2012:2).

Coping strategies refer to both conscious and unconscious psychological processes by which inmates manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors to mitigate the negative impacts of detention.

5.3. Research Strategy

The research strategy followed several phases. It began with identifying relevant resources to develop a comprehensive interview guide, grounded in studies and reports on the penal trajectory and historical evolution of relevant institutions. The extended framework of the penal trajectory was adopted, recognizing that the detention experience is shaped by a network of institutions that collaboratively implement punishment. This perspective redistributes responsibility for rehabilitation beyond just the prison system.

A crucial step involved securing institutional partnerships. To avoid response bias, the study did not include inmates currently in detention. Instead, it partnered with the National Probation Directorate, which supported interviewee selection and coordination.

Selection of participants also considered diversity in prison experiences, including individuals who had served time in multiple institutions, both in Romania and abroad. This ensured a broad understanding of incarceration conditions in varying contexts.

The penal trajectory perspective guided the structure of the analysis, with an extended section devoted to prison experiences. Analytical tools were diversified to include social mapping, while case studies were used to examine how personal characteristics influenced the experience and effects of incarceration.

5.4. Research Methods and Techniques

Semi-Structured Interviews:

The main qualitative method involved 17 former inmates. The interview guide addressed background, criminal career, penal trajectory, post-sentence life, and suggestions for prison reform. Most interviews were conducted at Probation Services, recorded with informed consent, and securely anonymized.

Data were interpreted using a grid of pre-identified themes, situating detention as a gradual experience within the broader penal process. The approach adheres to constructivist epistemology (Fish, 1990 in Crotty, 1998).

Theoretical orientation was interpretative phenomenological, applying the concept of the total institution (Abbot, 2005; Goffman), which illuminates the subjective dimension of incarceration.

The sample consisted of 17 Romanian male former inmates, aged 21+, with final convictions and actual prison sentences between 2–7 years, in good mental and physical health, and diverse socio-economic and recidivism profiles.

Document Analysis:

Historical and institutional documents concerning the Penal Code and criminal justice bodies (police, courts, prosecutors, attorneys, prisons) were analyzed to trace institutional impacts on the detention experience. Institutional development is understood as layered evolution rather than replacement (Orren & Skowronek, 1994 in Van de Heijden, 2013), a process marked by path dependence (Tiberius, 2011; Pierson, 2004; North, 1990). Classic sociologists like Gusti, Weber, Veblen, and Eminescu's notion of "forms without substance" emphasize the persistence of outdated structures within modern institutions. These insights helped formulate grounded suggestions for reform.

Social Mapping:

This method visualized prison spaces to understand how physical environments shape inmate relations and time use. Rooted in symbolic interactionism (Knopp, 2021:6), it revealed how overcrowding conditions certain behaviors. Originating from epidemiological mapping, it has expanded to address social issues like crime (Vaughn, 2018).

Multiple Case Studies:

This technique allowed in-depth analysis of the differential effects of detention and adaptation strategies based on participants' socio-economic contexts. It contributed directly to objective 1.2 by analyzing the incarceration experience through variables such as social background, criminal history, and socio-economic status (Ilut, 1997:108), providing integrated insights into the consequences of deprivation of liberty.

5.5. Research Ethics

The research adhered to ethical standards, receiving approval from the National Probation Directorate (2/2170/12.06.2023) and the Ethics Committee of the Research Institute for Quality of Life (107/04.05.2023). Participants were fully informed about the purpose of the study and signed triplicate informed consent forms.

Confidentiality and anonymity were ensured in compliance with Romanian Law 677/2001 and European data protection and clinical best practices. Participation by former inmates was essential for understanding the effects of detention and the penal trajectory, with the broader aim of reducing recidivism and improving reintegration. Risks to participants were minimal, while potential societal benefits were substantial. Data were coded, securely stored, and accessible only to the researcher.

5.6 Research Limitations and Challenges

Several limitations were encountered. The small sample size resulted from many former inmates declining participation to avoid revisiting traumatic experiences. Being under probation supervision may have influenced participants to provide socially desirable responses.

Only eight prisons and two prison hospitals were included in the study, with institutional interactions limited to the Bucharest area, restricting generalizability.

Challenges included participants' reluctance to engage with a sensitive topic, leading to a high refusal rate. Even among those who participated, the probation office setting may have inhibited openness. Limited time and sample size made it difficult to validate emerging themes.

Chapter 6

PHENOMENOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF DETENTION WITHIN THE PENAL TRAJECTORY

This chapter examines the experience of detention as part of the broader penal trajectory, analyzing the effects of incarceration on former inmates and their close relations, both during imprisonment and after release. It also discusses coping strategies developed within prison and subsequent reintegration mechanisms.

6.1. Approach

The analysis addresses the research questions by presenting detention as a spectrum of deprivation effects. It proposes recommendations to improve institutional interactions along the penal trajectory, aiming at more effective rehabilitation. Some findings confirm prior Anglo-Saxon and Romanian studies, with the broader goal of offering a unified framework for understanding the lived experience of incarceration, including influences from institutions beyond the prison itself.

6.2. Data Collection

This qualitative study was based on semi-structured interviews with 17 former male inmates. Interview themes were grounded in the literature on the psychological, physical, economic, and social effects of imprisonment on individuals and their support networks. Interviewing only former inmates allowed for more open responses, avoiding the pressures of the prison environment.

The inclusion of men was justified by their predominance in the Romanian prison population (94.5%) and the interviewer's ability to approach sensitive topics. Ethical standards were upheld: participants were fully informed of the research objectives and gave written informed consent. Demographic and criminal history data were collected, followed by narratives detailing key stages of the penal trajectory: arrest, home searches, interrogations, pre-trial detention, courtroom procedures, prison time, and post-release challenges.

Interviews averaged 60 minutes. Experiences with probation services were excluded to avoid bias linked to participants' former legal supervision status.

6.3. Analiza datelor

All interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and anonymized. Preliminary coding was done into thematic categories and subcategories, and reviewed by a second coder. For instance, post-prison experiences such as "inaccessibility to employment," "negative judgment from peers," and

"family rejection" were grouped under the theme "Stigmatization", which belonged to the broader category "Social effects after arrest and imprisonment."

Thematic data were numerically coded in Excel and imported into SPSS for descriptive statistical analysis.

For the pre-conviction phase, open thematic analysis was used due to the scarcity of Romanian literature on this topic. This led to the identification of themes regarding interactions with legal institutions before incarceration and supported the generation of inductive hypotheses, which warrant future testing.

6.4. Results

The qualitative approach enabled a nuanced understanding of detention, going beyond institutional boundaries by embedding it into a broader penal trajectory with psychological, social, and economic reverberations.

The study focused on the lived experience of imprisonment, highlighting its impacts on former detainees and their close relations, as well as coping and reintegration strategies. Participants were recruited through probation services in Bucharest, Ilfov, and Giurgiu, and all interviews were conducted post-release, allowing for more detailed accounts than would have been possible within prison.

Interviews followed the sequence of the penal process: arrest, interrogation, pre-trial detention, trial, sentence execution, and post-release reintegration. Transcriptions were thematically coded and analyzed both inductively and using SPSS for descriptive frequency mapping of reported effects.

Key findings revolve around the concept of detention as an experience of a succession of critical social and psychological events. Arrest is often described as a rupture and a moment of humiliation, exacerbated by police conduct and invasive home searches. Interrogation frequently occurs in emotionally vulnerable contexts, often without adequate legal counsel, leading to distorted statements. Pre-trial detention is marked by intense anxiety and uncertainty, with a lack of institutional support. Cellmates become informal sources of support, though such networks can also pose risks due to coercive hierarchies. Court interactions and prison transfers reinforce feelings of degradation. Judicial decisions are seen as moments that reshape one's social identity. Some participants report ineffective legal defense and perceived judicial bias, particularly regarding prosecutors' disproportionate influence on sentencing.

Most frequently reported effects are emotional and psychological, including shame, anxiety, fear, and trauma, triggered by loss of control, formal or abusive treatment by staff, and social stigma. These findings align with previous studies (e.g., Haney, 2012; Crewe, 2011).

Physical health deteriorations are common, especially dental health decline, unintentional weight loss, dermatological conditions, and exacerbation of pre-existing illnesses. Poor medical care and hygiene were cited as contributing factors. Sleep disturbances and stress-related physical symptoms were also reported.

Social consequences include reduced support networks, in-prison marginalization, and—less frequently—strengthened family bonds or marriages during incarceration. Emotional ties are key to psychological balance but are often destabilized.

Post-release reintegration marks a new phase of trauma. Former inmates continue to struggle with self-stigmatization, cognitive restructuring (re-evaluation of values and behaviors), and emotional self-regulation. While some changes may reflect psychological maturation, they often come at high emotional cost.

Social stigma is a major obstacle to reintegration, manifesting through:

- Barriers to employment
- Rejection by family and community
- Difficulties in resuming intimate relationships
- This stigmatization not only affects social status but also self-image, reinforcing isolation.
- Economic effects of incarceration include:
- Business closures
- Income loss
- Debt accumulation
- Former inmates with entrepreneurial backgrounds reported the collapse of small businesses, affecting not just families but also employees.

Family members also suffer emotionally, physically, and financially. Cases include parental deaths linked to stress or health deteriorations caused by a family member's incarceration. These findings echo those of Comfort (2008) and Braman (2009), who show that imprisonment has wider social effects on inmate support networks.

Coping strategies in prison include engagement in educational or recreational programs, work, maintaining healthy diets, hope for release. Riskier strategies include manipulation, forming

alliances with influential inmates, and emotional suppression, used for "impression management." While adaptive in prison, emotional repression may lead to dysfunctional behaviors post-release. After release, coping strategies diverge:

- Some seek immediate employment (locally or abroad)
- Others avoid social spaces out of shame
- Some relapse into drug use as a stress response
- Employment is critical for restoring social status and reducing recidivism (Ramakers et al., 2017), but criminal records severely hinder job opportunities.

6.5. Conclusion

The thesis argues that detention is not an isolated episode, but a gradual and multidimensional experience that extends beyond the prison walls, affecting both the convicted individual and their familial and social support network. By analyzing the stages of the penal trajectory—from police investigation to the post-detention period—it has been demonstrated that the effects of detention are cumulatively emotional, psychological, social, and economic.

Regarding the factors that shape the experience of detention, the study highlights a dual trend in Romanian penal policies: on one hand, a partial alignment with European standards through the introduction of alternative sanctions; on the other hand, a reinforcement of incapacitation policies, characterized by long sentences and a weak post-detention support system. The plea bargaining procedure also plays a significant role; while it increases judicial efficiency, it may indirectly contribute to prison overcrowding.

A central aspect addressed is the quality of interaction with institutional actors—the police officer, prosecutor, defense attorney, and judge—whose conduct influences the inmate's perception of the system's legitimacy. The police officer's attitude is often perceived as degrading, which heightens hostility and reduces the willingness to cooperate. The prosecutor, due to his central role in the investigation, has a disproportionate impact on the judicial process, highlighting the need to reassess his responsibility in sentencing outcomes. As for the defense attorney, the research suggests a potential therapeutic role, complementing the legal one, while the public perception of the judge may shape the inmate's attitude toward punishment and cooperation during incarceration.

The research makes original contributions by exploring understudied topics, such as commensality, penile implants, coping strategies, and post-detention transformations, and by

revealing the diversity of experiences based on the inmates' social backgrounds. Detention is conceptualized as a progressive experience, whose effects unfold during critical moments and key interactions, and are rarely without impact.

6.6. Recommendations

The recommendations are structured along four main directions: (1) reforming institutional interactions within the penal trajectory; (2) providing psychological services to inmates and their families at specific points during detention; (3) reviewing certain practices of custodial staff; and (4) developing effective post-detention reintegration policies.

Regarding detention itself, it is recommended to standardize the language used by custodial staff, revise the allocation of beds and domestic tasks to counteract prison subculture rules, and expand psychological counseling, vocational education, and educational media activities. Additionally, the importance of housing vulnerable individuals in special units is emphasized, along with the need to intensify support measures after release, including mandatory psychological and vocational counseling.

Finally, we propose the creation of a permanent research and development unit within the penitentiary system, aimed at informing strategic decisions, monitoring institutional policies, and proposing adjustments based on empirical data, in order to promote an integrated approach to detention in Romania.

Bibliography

- 1. Abramovaite, J., Bandyopadhyay, S., Bhattacharya, S., Cowen, N., 2023. Classical deterrence theory revisited: An empirical analysis of Police Force Areas in England and Wales. European Journal of Criminology, 20(5), pp.1663–1680. [Accesat la: 10 februarie 2024].
- 2. Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S. and Robinson, J., 2001. The colonial origins of comparative development: An empirical investigation. The American Economic Review, 91(5), pp.1369-1401.
- 3. Administratia Natională a Penitenciarelor, 2009. Bilant.
- 4. Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor, 2015. Raport anual de activitate.
- 5. Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor, 2018. Oferta de programe și activități educative, de asistență psihologică și asistență socială. Direcția reintegrare socială.
- 6. Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor, 2019. Raport anual de activitate.
- 7. Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor, 2023. Raport anual de activitate.
- 8. Administrația Națională a Penitenciarelor, 2024. Studiul integrat privind cauzele recidivei.
- 9. Adunarea Constituantă, 1991. Constituția din 21 noiembrie 1991. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 233.
- 10. Adunarea Electivă, 1866. Constituția din 1 iulie 1866. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 142. Disponibil la: http://www.legex.ro/Constitutia-0-1866-13.aspx [Accesat la: 12 mai 2024].
- 11. Aebi, M. F., Cocco, E., 2024. SPACE I 2023 Council of Europe Annual Penal Statistics: Prison populations. Council of Europe.
- 12. Aligheri, D., 2000. Divina Comedie. Iași, Polirom.
- 13. Andronic, D., 2017. Arhiva SIPA avea peste 3000 de dosare despre judecători și procurori. Evenimentul Zilei. Disponibil la: https://evz.ro/arhiva-sipa-avea-peste-3000-de-dosare-despre-judecatori-si-procu.html [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 14. Antoniu, G., Danes, S., Popa, M., 2010. Codul penal actual comentat pe înțelesul tuturor. Editura Orizonturi, București.
- 15. APADOR-CH, 2005. Sistemul penitenciar în România 1995-2004.
- 16. Aristotel, 1998. Etica Nicomahică. Tradusă de Stella Petecel. Editura IRI, București.
- 17. Aristotel, 2004. Retorica. Tradusă de Maria Cristina Andrieș. Editura IRI, București.
- 18. Arsenie, F., 2020. Dreptul la apărare. Rolul avocatului în derularea unui proces echitabil. Teză de doctorat. Academia de Studii Economice București, Facultatea de Drept. [Accesat la: 21 august 2024].
- 19. Atkins, J.W., 2013. Cicero on politics and the limits of reason. UK, Cambridge University Press.
- 20. Avocatul Poporului, 2015. Raportul special privind condițiile de detenție din penitenciare și centre de reținere și arestare preventivă, factori determinanți în respectarea demnității umane și a drepturilor persoanelor private de libertate [online] Disponibil la https://avp.ro/wp content/uploads/2020/09/raport special mnp 2015 sinteza.pdf [Accesat la: 10 martie 2022].
- 21. Baker, J., Christian, J., Harbeck, K., Howson, A., McMahon, M., Nicholas, S., Vejar, C., 2011. Analyzing crime & social control. Salem Press, pp.17-27.
- 22. Balica, E., 2014. Offenders under supervision and their perception about lawyers and probation counselors. Rom. Jour. Sociol., (1–2), pp.121–142.
- 23. Banciu, D., 1995. Sociologie Juridică. București, Editura Hyperion XXI.
- 24. Banciu, D., Dâmboeanu, C., Puşcaş, M., 2015. Atitudini şi percepții ale publicului față de pedeapsa cu moartea. Revista de Sociologie.
- 25. Banks, C., 2020. Criminal Justice Ethics Theory and Practice. Sage Publications, pp.143-165.
- 26. Becker, H., 1966. Outsiders. Studies in the sociology of deviance. New York, The Free Press.
- 27. Bentham, J., Burns, J.H., 2000. An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. Batoche Books Kitchener, pp.1-60.
- 28. Bentham, J., Hart, H.L., 1970. The collected Works of Jeremy Bentham. Principles of Legislation. Of Laws in General. Londra, The Athlone Press, pp.1-10, 133, 175, 196, 198, 209, 211, 215, 218, 247.
- 29. Bentham, J., Foucault, M., Miranda, J.M., 1979. Genealogia del poder. El Panoptico. Madrid, Las ediciones de Las Piquetas, pp.1-22.
- 30. Berechet, S., 1930. Pravilniceasca Condică din Muntenia 1780. Tipografia "Cartea Românească", Chișinău, pp.I-XII.
- 31. Berechet, S., 1933. Istoria vechiului drept românesc I. Izvoarele. Iași, Tipărită de "GOLDNER"
- 32. Berg, M., Huebner, B., 2011. Reentry and the Ties that Bind: An Examination of Social Ties, Employment, and Recidivism. Justice Quarterly, 28(2), pp.382-411.
- 33. Binder, G., Notterman, B., 2017. Penal incapacitation: A situationist critique. American Criminal Law Review, 54(1), pp.1–56. Disponibil la: https://digitalcommons.law.buffalo.edu/journal_articles/291. [Accesat la: 10 februarie 2024].
- 34. Błędowski, P., Felczak, J., Gałecka-Burdziak, E., Góra, M., 2023. Incarceration experience at older ages. Does employment protect against recidivism?. Economics and Sociology, 16(1), pp.11-28.
- 35. Borangic, C., 2017. Seniorii războiului în lumea dacică. Elite militare din secolele II a.Chr.-II p.Chr. în spațiul carpato-dunărean. Brăila Alba Iulia, Editura ISTROS.
- 36. Bosworth, M., 2005. Encyclopedia of prisons and correctional facilities, Vol. I. Sage Publications, pp.825-840.
- 37. Braman, D., 2004. Doing Time on the Outside: Incarceration and Family Life in Urban America. University of Michigan Press.
- 38. Bright, S., 2010. Legal Representation for the Poor: Can Society Afford This Much Injustice?. Missouri Law Review Symposium. Disponibil la: https://papers.csrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2767931 [Accesat la: 9 martie 2023].
- 39. Bub, K., Lommen, J., 2017. The role of guilt in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. Eur J Psychotraumatol, 8(1), p.1407202. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1407202.
- 40. Bunea, I., 2024a. Nici cu manele, dar nici cu operă. Se lansează o nouă televiziune de muzică în România. Avem deja 22 de stații muzicale. Disponibil la: https://www.paginademedia.ro/cna/boom-tv-televiziune-muzicala-21818892 [Accesat la: 9 ianuarie 2025].
- 41. Bunea, I., 2024b. O nouă televiziune pentru copii se va lansa în România. A primit licență de la CNA. "Fixiki este un reper față de ceea ce vrem să aducem noi în România". Disponibil la: https://www.paginademedia.ro/cna/televiziune-copii-tralala-desene-animate-21680224 [Accesat la: 9 ianuarie 2025].
- 42. Bunea, I., 2024c. O nouă televiziune românească, cu filme și seriale vechi, în grila operatorului Orange. Disponibil la: https://www.paginademedia.ro/cna/nostalgia-tv-cablu-orange-21871539 [Accesat la: 9 ianuarie 2025].
- 43. Burkhardt, B., Connor, B., 2015. Durkheim, Punishment, and Prison Privatization. Social Currents, 3(1), pp.84–99.
- 44. Camp, S., Gaes, G., 2005. Criminogenic Effects of the Prison Environment on Inmate Behavior: Some Experimental Evidence. Crime & Delinquency, 51, pp.425-442.
- 45. Ceaucă, R., 2024. Discuție informală cu Popescu Cosmin Robert pe tema condițiilor de supraveghere, 15 septembrie 2024.

- 46. Centrul de Resurse Juridice din Moldova (CRJM), 2014. Factori de presiune și conflicte de interese în justiție: Ghid pentru judecători. CRJM. Disponibil la: https://crjm.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/factori-de-presiune-si-conflicte-de-interese-in-justitie-ghid.pdf [Accesat la: 21 ianuarie 2024].
- 47. Cernea, M., Molcut, E., 2013. Istoria statului și dreptului românesc. Universul Juridic, pp.200-230.
- 48. Chen, X., 2023. Humanistic Foundation of Criminal Law. China Renmin University Press, pp.287-300.
- 49. Chiş, A., 2023. Folosirea (in)adecvată a puterii în sistemul judiciar din românia (2017-2023). Rev. t. Pol. Rel. Int., 20(3), pp.195–228. București.
- 50. Clark, A., Star, S., 2008. The Social Worlds Framework: A Theory/Methods Package. În: Hackett, E., Amsterdamska, O., Lynch, M., Wajcman, J. (Eds.), The Handbook of Science and Technology Studies. MIT Press, pp.113-137.
- 51. Clătici, O., 2002. Statutul Sociologiei Juridice. Revista Română de Sociologie, pp.605-619.
- 52. Cochran, J., Mears, D., Bales, D., Stewart, A., 2012. Does Inmate Behavior Affect Post-Release Offending? Investigating the Misconduct-Recidivism Relationship among Youth and Adults. Justice Quarterly. DOI:10.1080/07418825.2012.73656.
- 53. Cojocaru, O., 1998. Organizarea judecătorească și administrarea justiției în România din cele mai vechi timpuri până în zilele noastre. București, Lumina Lex, pp.69-93.
- Comfort, M., 2008. Doing Time Together: Love and Family in the Shadow of the Prison. University of Chicago Press.
- 55. Comisia Europeană (2016-2024). Perceived independence of the national justice systems in the EU among the general public (2016-2024) Disponibil la: https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/3193 (Accesat la: 14 mai 2024)
- 56. Costea, A., 2018. Dinamica suprapopulării și a condițiilor de detenție în penitenciarele din România în perioada 1990–2017. Revista Română de Sociologie, 3-4, pp.303–340.
- 57. Coyle, A., 2005. Understanding Prisons. Berkshire, Open University Press.
- 58. Crank, B.R., 2010. Adapting to Incarceration: Inmate Perceptions of Prison Life and Adjustment. Master's Thesis, Georgia State University. Disponibil la: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=cj_theses. [Accesat la: 10 martie 2024].
- 59. Crap, G., 2024. The evolution of the Romanian police from the militia during the communist period. European financial resilience and regulation 25 years united under Euro Proceedings of the International Conference EUFIRE-RE 2024. Iași: Editura Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza", pp.50-63.
- 60. Crewe, B., Laws, B., 2018. Subcultural adaptations to incarceration. In: The Oxford handbook of prisons and imprisonment, pp. 125-142.
- 61. Crewe, B., 2011. Depth, weight, tightness: Revisiting the pains of imprisonment. Punishment & Society, 13(5), pp.509–529.
- 62. Crotty, M., 1998. The foundations of social research. Meaning and perspective in the research process. SAGE Publications
- 63. Dâmboeanu, C., 2011. Fenomenul recidivei în România. Calitatea vieții, 3, pp.295-312.
- 64. Dâmboeanu, C., 2015. Prisons in Romania. Effects of offenders' lives. București, Tritonic.
- 65. Digi24, 2017. Ce se găsește în arhiva SIPA. Digi24. Disponibil la: https://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/justitie/ce-se-gaseste-in-arhiva-sipa-725265 [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 66. Dimiu, R., 1929. Judecători și judecăți de altădată. București, Curierul Judiciar.
- 67. Doboş, C., 2013. Între a preveni și a pedepsi: un nou tip de acțiune penală în România interbelică. Studia Politica: Romanian Political Science Review, 13(3), pp.477-497.
- 68. Dobrică, P., 2010. Viața cotidiană în închisoare. Putere, ierarhii sociale, sexualitate. Sociologie Românească, 03, pp.24-38.
- 69. Domingo, R., Minnucci, G., 2020. Alberico Gentili and the Secularization of the Law of Nations. Cambridge University Press, pp.1-21.
- 70. Dongoroz, V., 1936. Drept penal. București, Tirajul Institut de Arte Grafice, pp.1-200.
- 71. Donohue, J., Wolfers, J., 2005. Uses and Abuses of Empirical Evidence in the Death Penalty Debate. Stanford Law Review, 58, pp.791-846. Disponibil la: https://ssrn.com/abstract=870312. [Accesat la: 10 februarie 2024].
- 72. Donovan, J., 2008. Legal Anthropolgy. Marea Britanie, AltaMira Press.
- 73. Dumitran, C., 2024. Evaluarea politicilor de reintegrare socială a deținuților. București, Prouniversitaria.
- 74. Dungan, P., Paşca, V., Medeanu, T., 2012. Drept penal. Partea Specială. Prezentare comparativă a noului cod penal și a codului penal din 1968, Vol. 1. București, Universul Juridic.
- 75. Durkheim, E., 1984. The Division of Labour in Society. Macmillan, Anglia.
- 76. Durkheim, E., 2005. Suicide. A study in sociology. Londra, Taylor & Francis e-Library.
- 77. Durnescu, I., 2001. Estimarea riscului de recidivă. Revista Română de Sociologie, 4, pp.125–133.
- 78. Durnescu, I., 2017. The Five Stages of Prisoner Reentry: Toward a Process Theory. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology 62(8), pp.1-38.
- 79. Duţu, M., 2001. O istorie a Avocaturii române de la origini pâna la Primul Război Mondial. Vol 1. Bucureşti: Editura Economică.
- 80. Duţu, M., Lazăr, A., Predescu, O., Bocşan, G., Cosneanu, G., Frolu, S., Păun, I., Petrovici, V., Picioruş, I., Sima, C., 2017. Ministerul Public: istorie şi perspective. Bucureşti: Universul Juridic.
- 81. Elias, N., 1994. The Civilizing Process: Sociogenetic and Psychogenetic Investigations. Blackwell Publishing, pp.436-447.
- 82. Eminescu, M., 1984. Opere, vol. XI: Publicistică. 17 februarie 31 decembrie 1880. Timpul. București: Editura Academiei Republicii Socialiste România.
- 83. Engel, R., 2003. Explaining suspects' resistance and disrespect toward police. Journal of Criminal Justice, 31(5), pp.475–492.
- 84. European Commission For Democracy Through Law (Venice Commission), 2018. Opinion on amendments to law no. 303/2004 on the statute of judges and prosecutors, law no. 304/2004 on judicial organization, and law no. 317/2004 on the superior council for magistracy. Strasbourg, pp.10-17. Disponibil la: https://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/?pdf=CDL-AD(2018)017-e [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 85. ENCJ European Network of Councils for the Judiciary (2019) Survey on the Independence of Judges 2019. Disponibil la: https://pgwrk-websitemedia.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/production/pwk-web-encj2017-
- p/Reports/Data%20ENCJ%202019%20Survey%20on%20the%20Independence%20of%20judges.pdf (Accesat la: 14 mai 2024)
- 86. ENCJ European Network of Councils for the Judiciary (2022) Survey on the Independence of Judges 2019. Disponibil la: https://pgwrk-websitemedia.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/production/pwk-web-encj2017-p/GA%2022/Report%20ENCJ%20Survey%202022.pdf (Accesat la: 14 mai 2024)).
- 87. ENCJ European Network of Councils for the Judiciary (2019) Independence and Accountability of the Judiciary: ENCJ Report 2018–2019. Adoptat la 7 iunie 2019. Disponibil la: https://pgwrk-websitemedia.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/production/pwk-web-encj2017-p/GA%2019/ENCJ%20IAQ%20report%202018-2019%20adopted%207%20June%202019%20final-july.pdf (Accesat la: (Accesat la: 14 mai 2024).

- 88. ENCJ European Network of Councils for the Judiciary (2019) Survey on the Independence and Accountability of the Judiciary among Lawyers 2019. Disponibil la: https://pgwrk-websitemedia.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/production/pwk-web-encj2017-p/Reports/ENCJ%20Survey%20on%20Independence%20Accountability%20of%20the%20Judiciary%20among%20lawyers%20%202019.pdf (Accesat la: 14 mai 2024).
- 89. Fischer, N., Hauser, S., Brede, O., Fisang, C., Müller, S., 2010. Implantation of artificial penile nodules--a review of literature. J Sex Med., 7(11), pp.3565-3571.
- 90. Florian, G., 2022. Cultura devianței în penitenciare. [curs universitar], Facultatea de Științe Politice, Școala Națională de Studii Politice și Administrative.
- 91. Florian, G., nedatat. Lumini și umbre privind educația persoanelor care execută pedepse privative de libertate. Revista de studii psihologice, 3(1), pp.12-24.
- 92. Foucault, M., 1995. Discipline and punish. The birth of the prison. New York, Vintage Books.
- 93. Fratoștițeanu, G., 1895. Codicele penal. Editura Librăriei Leon Alcalay, București, pp.1-200.
- 94. Friedrich, C., 1966. Philosophical Reflections of Leibniz on Law, Politics, and the State. Natural Law Forum, pp.79-92.
- 95. Friedrichs, D.O., 1992. White Collar Crime and the Definitional Quagmire: A Provisional Solution. The Journal of Human Justice, 3(2). University of Scranton.
- 96. Frost, M., 2011. Social stigma and its consequences for the socially stigmatized. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 5(11), pp.824-839.
- 97. Gaius și Ulpian, 1876. The Commentaries of Gaius and Rules of Ulpian. Tradus de J.T Abdy și Bryan Walker, Cambridge University Press, pp.355-359.
- 98. Gaius, 1958. The Institutes of Gaius. Part I. Tradus de Francis de Zulueta. Oxford University Press, Londra, pp.1-50.
- 99. Garfield, H., Ringen, E., Buckner, W., Medupe, D., Wrangham, W., Glowacki, L., 2023. Norm violations and punishments across human societies. Evolutionary Human Sciences, pp.1-20.
- 100. Garland, D. (ed.), 2001. Mass imprisonment: Social causes and consequences. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- 101. Garland, D., 1990. Punishment and Modern Society: A Study in Social Theory. Oxford University Press, Chicago.
- 102. Garland, D., 1991. Sociological Perspectives on Punishment. Crime and Justice, 14, pp.115–165.
- 103. Garland, D., 2001. The Culture of Control: Crime and Social Order in Contemporary Society. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- 104. Gilbert, P., 2022. Shame, humiliation, guilt, and social status: The distress and harms of social disconnection. In: Compassion focused therapy, pp.122-163. Routledge.
- 105. Giurescu, C. C., 1943. Istoria românilor: Partea a doua, de la Mircea cel Bătrân și Alexandru cel Bun până la Mihai Viteazul (Ediția a patra, revăzută și adăugită). București, Fundația Regală pentru Literatură și Artă.
- 106. Giurescu, C. C., 1944. Istoria românilor. Partea întâi: Dela moartea lui Mihai Viteazul până la sfârșitul epocii fanariote (1601-1821) (Ediția a doua, revăzută și adăugită). București, Fundația Regală pentru Literatură și Artă.
- 107. Goffman, E., 1963. Stigma. Londra, Penguin.
- 108. Goffman, E., 2003. Aziluri. Eseuri despre situația socială a pacienților psihiatrici și a altor categorii de persoane instituționalizate. Tradus de A. Mîndrilă. București: Editura Polirom.
- 109. Goode, E. (ed.), 2015. The handbook of deviance. Wiley, pp.3-30, 225-237.
- 110. Graffam, J., Shinkfield, A., Lavelle, B. and McPherson, W., 2004. Variables affecting successful reintegration as perceived by offenders and professionals. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 40(1-2), pp.147-171.
- 111. GRECO, 2019. Raport de follow-up referitor la Raportul ad hoc privind ROMANIA (Regula 34). Strasbourg, pp.1-15. Disponibil la: https://rm.coe.int/raport-de-follow-up-referitor-la-raportul-ad-hoc-privind-romania-regul/1680965689 [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 112. Gudjonsson, G., 2003. The Psychology of Interrogations and Confessions. A Handbook. Anglia, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp.360-412.
- 113. Guțan, M., 2017. Istoria dreptului românesc. Editura Hamangia.
- 114. Guvernul României, 2015. Strategia națională de reintegrare socială a persoanelor private de libertate, 2015 2019 Disponibil la : https://anp.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Strategie-v5.pdf [Accesat la: 18 ianuarie 2023].
- 115. Guvernul României, 2020. Strategia Națională de Reintegrare Socială a Persoanelor Private de Libertate 2020–2024. [online] Disponibil la: https://gl.prefectura.mai.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/sites/46/2023/06/Strategia-Nationala-de-Reintegrare-2020-2024.pdf [Accesat la: 18 ianuarie 2023].
- 116. Hagan, J., Peterson, R. D. (eds.), 1995. Crime and inequality. California, Stanford University Press.
- 117. Hajdari, A., Fetai, B., 2024. The Effect of the Level of Education on Employment: Evidence from Western Balkans. Economic Alternatives, 28. 10.37075/EA.2022.2.11.
- 118. Hamangiu, C., 1903. Codul general al României. București, Editura Leon Alcalay, pp.1000-1020.
- Haney, C., 2012. The Psychological Effects of Imprisonment. In: Petersilia, J. and Reitz, K. (eds). The Oxford Handbook of Sentencing and Corrections. Oxford Handbooks Online, pp.1-25.
- 120. Haney, C., 2018. The psychological impact of incarceration: Implications for post-prison adjustment. American Psychologist, 72(8), pp.768–778.
- 121. Hannah-Moffat, K., 2013. Actuarial sentencing: An "unsettled" proposition. Justice Quarterly, 30(2), pp.270-296.
- 122. Heidari, E., Dickson, C. and Newton, T., 2014. An overview of the prison population and the general health status of prisoners. Br Dent J, 217, pp.15–19.
- Heijden, J., 2013. Institutional layering: a review of the use of the concept. Politics, 31(1), pp.9-18.
- Herbert, K., Plugge, E., Foster, C., Doll, H., 2020. Prevalence of risk factors for non-communicable diseases in prison populations worldwide: a systematic review. The Lancet Global Health, 8(2), pp.e139-e148.
- 125. Hotca, A., 2022. Dreptul penal în postmodernitate. Ûniversul Justiției. Disponibil la: https://www.universuljuridic.ro/bagatelizarea-dreptului-penal-prin-cresterea-continua-a-numarului-incriminarilor/ [Accesat la: 20 septembrie 2023].
- 126. Hotca, A., 2023. Bagatelizarea dreptului penal prin cresterea continuă a numărului incriminărilor. Universul Justiției. Disponibil la: https://www.universuljuridic.ro/bagatelizarea-dreptului-penal-prin-cresterea-continua-a-numarului-incriminarilor/ [Accesat la: 20 septembrie 2023].
- 127. Iluţ, P., 1997. Abordarea calitativă a socioumanului: concepte și metode. Iași, Polirom.
- 128. Inspecția Judiciară, 2022. Raport de control privind evaluarea și comportamentul judecătorilor în ședința de judecată, profesionalismul interacțiunii sociale din perspectiva respectării dispozițiilor art.5 din Regulamentul de ordine interioară al instanțelor judecătorești

- 129. Institute for Economics & Peace, 2024. Global Peace Index 2024 [Indicele Păcii Globale 2024], pp.8–9. Disponibil la: https://www.visionofhumanity.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/GPI-2024-web.pdf.
- 130. Institute for Economics and Peace, 2010. Global Peace Index 2010 [Indicele Păcii Globale 2010]. Disponibil la: https://web.archive.org/web/20170326050900/http://peacealliance.org/cms/assets/uploads/2013/05/2010-GPI-Results-Report.pdf.
- 131. Institutul National al Magistraturii, n.d. Despre INM. Disponibil la: https://inm-lex.ro/despre-inm/ [Accesat la: 10 mai 2024].
- 132. Institutul Național de Statistică (INSSE), 2025. JUS105A Persoane condamnate definitiv aflate în penitenciare și centre educative după durata pedepselor, perioada 2017-2022 (la sfârșitul anului). [online] Disponibil la: http://statistici.insse.ro:8077/tempo-online/#/pages/tables/inssetable [Accesat la: 28 aprilie 2024].
- 133. Institutul Român pentru Evaluare și Strategie IRES, 2014. Funcționarea justiției în România. Disponibil la: https://ires.ro/uploads/articole/ires_raport-de-cercetare_funcționarea-justiției-în-românia.pdf [Accesat la: 19 ianuarie 2023].
- 134. Iorga, N., 1908. Închisorile noastre. Neamul Românesc, 3(17), pp.1846-1860.
- 135. Înalta Curte de Casație și Justiție a României, n.d. Despre instituție. Disponibil la: https://www.iccj.ro/despre-institutie/istoricul-iccj/inalta-curte-de-casatie-si-justitie-a-romaniei/ [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 136. Înalta Curte de Casație și Justiție, 2004. Regulamentul privind organizarea și funcționarea administrativă a Înaltei Curți de Casație și Justiție. Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr. 1076 din 30 noiembrie 2005. Disponibil la: https://lege5.ro/App/Document/heztonbz/sectiile-unite-ale-inaltei-curti-de-casatie-si-justitie-regulament?pid=27617876#p-27617876 [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 137. Jehle, J-M., Wade, M., 2006. Coping with overloaded criminal justice systems. The rise of prosecutorial power across Europe. Springer, Fritz Thyssen Stiftung.
- 138. Jehle, J-M., 2000. Prosecution in Europe: varying structures, convergent trends. European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research, 8, pp.27–41.
- 139. Jones, N., 2009. Manual de consiliere. București, Trei.
- Jonson, L., 2012. The Effects of Imprisonment. In: Cullen, F. and Wilcox, P. (eds). The Oxford Handbook of Criminological Theory. Oxford Handbooks Online, pp.1-22.
- 141. Justinian, 1979. The Digest of Roman Law. Theft, rapine, damage and insult. Tradusă de Kolbert C.F., Penguin Books, Londra.
- 142. Khan, A., Bruce, K., 2021. How residues of deinstitutionalised practices persist over time: World Bank boundary work in Pakistan. Business History, 63(8), pp.1-53.
- 143. King, R., Kuschminder, K., 2022. Handbook of Return Migration. UK, Edward Elgar.
- 144. Knight, J., 1992. Institutions and social conflict. UK, Cambridge University Press, pp.20-50.
- 145. Knopp, P., 2021. Mapping Temporalities and Processes With Situational Analysis: Methodological Issues and Advances. Qualitative Social Research, 22(3), pp.1-27.
- 146. Kremens, K., 2021. Powers of the Prosecutor in Criminal Investigation. A Comparative Perspective. New York, Routledge.
- 147. Kunuroglu, F., Yagmur, K., van de Vijver, F. and Kroon, S., 2015. Consequences of Turkish return migration from Western Europe. International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 49, pp.198–211.
- 148. Lazăr, A., Nicolae, A., Dumitrescu, C., 2012. Romania. În: Ligeti, K. (Ed.). Towards a Prosecutor for the European Union. Bloomsbury Publishing, pp.586-626.
- 149. Lehmann, R.J., Fernandez, Y., Helmus, L.M., 2016. Strengths of actuarial risk assessment. Treatment of sex offenders: Strengths and weaknesses in assessment and intervention, pp.45-81.
- 150. Levine, K., Wright, R., 2016. Prosecutor risk, maturation, and wrongful conviction practice. Law & Social Inquiry.
- 151. Li, W., Heward, C., Merrick, A., Astridge, B., Leow, T., 2024. Prevalence of experiencing public humiliation and its effects on victims' mental health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 18.
- 152. Liebling, A., Maruna, S., (eds.), 2005. The effects of imprisonment. New York, Routledge.
- Ligeti, K. (ed.), 2012. Toward a Prosecutor for the European Union Volume 1: A Comparative Analysis. Oxford: Hart Publishing, pp. 586-629.
- 154. Lilly, R., Cullen, T., Ball, A., 2019. Criminological Theory: Context and Consequences. California, Thousand Oaks.
- Loeffler, C., Nagin, D.S., 2022. The impact of incarceration on recidivism. Annual Review of Criminology, 5(1), pp.133-152.
- 156. Madon, S., Jussim, L., Guyll, M., Nofziger, H., Salib, E.R., Willard, J., Scherr, K.C., 2018. The accumulation of stereotype-based self-fulfilling prophecies. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 115(5), p.825.
- Marchetti, I., Koster, E., Klinger, E., Alloy, L., 2016. Spontaneous Thought and Vulnerability to Mood Disorders: The Dark Side of the Wandering Mind. Clinical Psychological Science, 4(5), pp.835-857.
- 158. Marcu, P., nedatat. Istoria dreptului românesc. Centru internațional pentru învățământ superior "Tehnoeconomia Europeană", Note de curs.
- 159. Marea Adunare Națională, 1949. DECRET nr. 132 din 1 aprilie 1949. Buletinul Oficial, nr. 15.
- 160. Marea Adunare Națională, 1968. Cod Penal din 21 iunie 1968. Buletinul Oficial nr. 79-79 bis. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocument/38070?isFormaDeBaza=True&rep=True [Accesat la: 23 martie 2024].
- 161. Mazzoni, C., 2017. Locked Up and Locked In: Of Roman Imprisonments and Liberations. Spiritus: A Journal of Christian Spirituality, 17(2), pp.246–251. doi:10.1353/scs.2017.0030.
- 162. McKendy, L., Ricciardelli, R., 2020. The pains of release: Federally-sentenced women's experiences on parole. European Journal of Probation, pp.1–20.
- 163. Mears, D., Stewart, E., Siennick, S., Simons, R., 2013. The code of the street and inmate violence: investigating the salience of imported belief systems. Criminology, 51(3): 695-728
- Merton, K., 1948. The Self-Fulfilling Prophecy. The Antioch Review, 8(2), pp. 193-210.
- 165. Merton, R., 1938. Social Structure and Anomie. American Sociological Review, 3(5), pp.672-682.
- 166. Micklethwaite, D., 2022. The contradictions of prisoner life and rehabilitation: an auto-ethnographic life sentence experience. Journal of Prisoners on Prisons, 31(1), pp.132-166.
- 167. Micle, M.I., 2006. Deținuții și relațiile în mediul carceral. [online] Disponibil la: https://criminologie.org.ro/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/Detinutii-si-relatiile-in-mediul-carceral-Studiu.pdf [Accesat: 1 decembrie 2024].
- 168. Mingus, W., Burchfield, K., 2012. From prison to integration: applying modified labelling theory to sex offenders. Criminal Justice Studies 25(1): 97-109
- 169. Mifflin, D., St Jeor, T., Hill, A., Scott, J., Daugherty, A., Koh, O., 1990. A new predictive equation for resting energy expenditure in healthy individuals. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 51(2), pp.241–247.

- 170. Ministerul Justiției and Banca Mondială, 2023. Analiza Funcțională a Sistemului Judiciar din România (P172734). Raport de analiză funcțională a sistemului judiciar din România.
- 171. Ministerul Justiției, 1945. LEGE Nr. 312 din 24 aprilie 1945 pentru urmărirea și sancționarea celor vinovați de dezastrul tarii sau de crime de război. Monitorul oficial, nr. 94. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocumentAfis/36 [Accesat la: 12 mai 2024].
- 172. Montesquieu, C. de S., 1777. The Spirit of Laws. In Complete Works (Vol. 1). Liberty Fund. Disponibil la: https://oll.libertyfund.org/titles/montesquieu-complete-works-vol-1-the-spirit-of-laws [Accesat la: 17 mai 2024].
- 173. Murphy, D. S., Robinson, M. B., 2008. The Maximizer: Clarifying Merton's theories of anomie and strain. Theoretical Criminology, 12(4), pp.501-521.
- Nagin, S., 2013. Deterrence in the Twenty-First Century. Crime and Justice, 42(1), pp.199-263.
- 175. Negoiță, F., 2019. Istoria statului si dreptului românesc. Universitatea Creştină Dimitrie Cantemir. Note de curs. Disponibil la: https://file.ucdc.ro/cursuri/D 1 N19 Istoria statului si dreptului romanesc Negoita Florin.pdf [Accesat la: 16 septembrie 2023].
- 176. Negru, I., 2014. Istoria dreptului românesc. Nagard, Lugoj.
- 177. Negulescu, P., Alexianu, G., 1944. Regulamentele organice ale Valahiei și Moldovei, Vol I. București, Întreprinderile "Eminescu", pp.105-123, 316-331.
- 178. North, D., 1990. Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance. Cambridge Univ. Press, pp. 1-50.
- 179. Parlamentul României 1874. Legea nr. 169 din 1874. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 26.
- 180. Parlamentul României, 1936. Codul penal din 1936. Monitorul Oficial, 65(I). Disponibil la: https://lege5.ro/App/Document/heztqnzu/codul-penal-din1936?pid=20120015&expression=temnita%20grea%20temnita%20grea%20#p-20120015 [Accesat la: 29 octombrie 2023].
- Parlamentul României, 2005. Legea nr. 304 din 28 iunie 2004 (republicată) privind organizarea judiciară. Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr. 827 din 13 septembrie 2005. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocument/53087 [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 182. Parlamentul României, 2009. Legea nr. 286 din 17 iulie 2009. Monitorul oficial nr. 510 din 24 iulie 2009. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocumentAfis/109854 [Accesat la: 29 martie 2023].
- 183. Parlamentul României, 2010. Legea nr. 135 din 1 iulie 2010 privind Codul de procedură penală. Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I, nr. 486 din 15 iulie 2010.
- 184. Parlamentul României, 2010. Legea nr. 202/2010 privind unele măsuri pentru accelerarea soluționării proceselor. Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr. 714.
- 185. Parlamentul României, 2018. Legea 207 din 20 iulie 2018. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 636.
- 186. Parlamentul României, 2022. Lege nr. 303 din 15 noiembrie 2022 privind statutul judecătorilor și procurorilor, art. 148. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 1102 din 16 noiembrie 2022. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocumentAfis/261399 [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 187. Parlamentul României, 2022. Legea nr. 304 din 15 noiembrie 2022 privind organizarea judiciară. Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr. 1104 din 16 noiembrie 2022. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocumentAfis/261410 [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 188. Parlamentul României, 2022. Legea nr. 49 din 11 martie 2022 privind desființarea Secției pentru investigarea infracțiunilor din justiție, precum și pentru modificarea Legii nr. 135/2010 privind Codul de procedură penală. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 244.
- 189. Parlamentul, 1865. Codul de procedură civilă din 9 septembrie 1865. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 200. Disponibil la: https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocument/2?isFormaDeBaza=True&rep=True [Accesat la: 12 mai 2024].
- 190. Paşca, V., 2014. Romania's New Penal Code and the Saga of its Adoption. Journal of Eastern-European Criminal Law, 1, pp.9-22.
- 191. Paşca, V., Medeanu, T., Dungan, P., 2012. Prezentare comparativă a noului cod penal și a codului penal din 1968, Vol I. București, Universul Juridic.
- 192. Pensavalle, C., Solinas, M., Gardoni, C., Giorgi, G., Antognozzi, T., Alessio, F., 2024. Boardgames as an innovative approach to promote life skills and well-being among inmates: A scoping review protocol. PLoS ONE, 19(2).
- 193. Pershan, L.S., n.d. Selective incapacitation and the justifications for imprisonment. N.Y.U. Review of Law & Social Change, 12(2), pp.385-418.
- 194. Petrovici, G., 2012. Infernul unui pedofil în pușcărie. Ce-i așteaptă pe aceștia după gratii. Cazuri dramatice și o sinucidere după o emisiune OTV. Evenimentul Zilei, [online] Disponibil la: https://evz.ro/pedofilul-in-puscarie-1009201.html [Accesat la: 18 martie 2024].
- 195. Phelan, J., Link, B.G., Moore, R.E., Stueve, A., 1997. The stigma of homelessness: The impact of the label homeless on attitudes toward poor persons. Social Psychology Quarterly, pp.323-337.
- 196. Pierson, P., 2004. Politics in Time: History, Institutions, and Social Analysis. Princeton University Press, pp.1-70.
- 197. Platon, 1995. Legile. Tradusă de E. Bezdechi. București: Editura IRI.
- 198. Popa, I., 2020. Noaptea dreptății românești 2005-2020. București, Universul Juridic.
- 199. Popescu, L., Condoiu, J., Udroiu, M., Petrovici, V. D., Matei, D., Sima, C., Arsenie, M., Dobrescu, M. & Nedelcu, I., n.d. Noul Cod de Procedură Penală. Disponibil la: https://www.mpublic.ro/sites/default/files/PDF/NOILE CODURI/ncpp.pdf [Accesat la: 7 mai 2024].
- 200. Pora, A., 2022. Cum au ajuns magistrații din România cei mai huliți dintre "privilegiați". Opt argumente pro și contra. Europa Liberă România. Disponibil la: https://romania.europalibera.org/a/magistrații-huliti-privilegiați-justitie-romania-argumente-pro-si-contra/32163710.html [Accesat la: 14 mai 2024].
- 201. Poliția Română (2024) Activitatea Poliției Române în anul 2024. București: Inspectoratul General al Poliției Române. Disponibil la: https://politiaromana.ro/files/pages_files/25-03-14-02-46-43Activitatea_Poli%C8%9Biei_Rom%C3%A2ne_%C3%AEn_anul_2024.pdf [Accesat la: 9 februarie 2025].
- 202. Poliția Română (2023) Activitatea Poliției Române în anul 2023. București: Inspectoratul General al Poliției Române. Disponibil la: https://politiaromana.ro/files/pages files/Activitatea Poli%C8%9Biei Rom%C3%A2ne %C3%AEn_2023.pdf Accesat la: 9 februarie 2025].
- 203. Poliția Română (2022) Activitatea Poliției Române în anul 2022. București: Inspectoratul General al Poliției Române. Disponibil la: https://politiaromana.ro/files/pages files/Activitatea Poliției Romane in anul 2022.pdf [Accesat la: 9 februarie 2025].
- 204. Poliția Română (2021) Activitatea Poliției Române în anul 2021. București: Inspectoratul General al Poliției Române. Disponibil la: https://politiaromana.ro/files/pages files/Activitatea Poliției Romane in anul 2021.pdf [Accesat la: 9 februarie 2025].
- 205. Ramakers, A., Nieuwbeerta, P., Van Wilsem, J., Dirkzwager, A., 2017. Not just any job will do: A study on employment characteristics and recidivism risks after release. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 61(16), pp.1795-1818.
- 206. Raskolnikov, A., 2020. Criminal Deterrence: A Review of the Missing Literature. Supreme Court Economic Review, 28(1), pp.1–59. Disponibil la: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/full/10.1086/710158. [Accesat la: 9 februarie 2024].
- 207. Rădulescu, A., Costin, A., Grecu, V., Gaftoescu C., Tegăneanu, C., Răcoasa, V., Teodorescu, A., Dimiu, R., Sachelarie, O., Nicolaiasa, G., Vlădescu, R., 1961. Cartea romînească de învățătură. Editura Academiei Republicii Romîne, București.

- 208. Rădulescu, A., Vasile G., Cront, G., Tegăneanu, C., Teodorescu, A., Dimiu, R., Sachelarie, O., Nicolaiasa, G., Costin, A., Gaftoescu, V., Popescu, A., Sadoveanu, M., Vlădescu-Răcoasa, G., 1962. Îndreptarea legii. Editura Academiei Republicii Populare Romîne
- 209. Redacția Gândul, 2021. Asociația Magistraților din România și Asociația Judecătorilor pentru Apărarea Drepturilor Omului denunță public atitudinea ipocrită a ambasadelor străine cu privire la independența justiției în România. Disponibil la: https://www.gandul.ro/actualitate/asociatia-magistratilor-din-romania-amr-si-asociatia-judecatorilor-pentru-apararea-drepturilor-omului-ajado-denunta-public-atitudinea-ipocrita-a-ambasadelor-straine-cu-privire-la-independenta-just-19594135 [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 210. Redacția Hotnews, 2019. Protest al magistraților clujeni față de ordonanța privind legile justiției; ei suspendă activitatea judiciară săptămâna viitoare/ Proteste sunt anunțate în toată țara. Disponibil la: https://hotnews.ro/video-update-protest-al-magistratilor-clujeni-fata-de-ordonanta-privind-legile-justitiei-ei-suspenda-activitatea-judiciara-saptamna-viitoare-proteste-sunt-anuntate-n-toata-tara-334685 [Accesat la: 13 mai 2024].
- 211. Regatul României, 1938. Legi, decrete, jurnale ale consiliului de miniștri, deciziuni ministeriale, comunicate, anunțuri judiciare. Monitorul Oficial, 88(I).
- 212. Regatul României, 1943. Legea 726, decret lege pentru organizarea judecătorească. Monitorul Oficial, Partea I, nr. 258. Dipsonibil la: http://digitool.bibmet.ro:8881/R/NB4QSRPFC198F2174RDPVU8GJJMKJ7KEP8MVA89HFMAK22TDKF-01155?func=results-jumpfull&set entry=00036&set number=002916&base=GEN01 [Accesat la: 12 mai 2024].
- 213. Reid, T., 2018. Crime and Criminology. New York, Wolters Kluwer, pp.200-250.
- 214. Robinson, C. D., Scaglion, R., 1987. The origin and evolution of the police function in society: Notes toward a theory. Law & Society Review, 21(1), pp.109–153.
- 215. Rotariu, L., 2016. Jilava, o radiografie socială a unui penitenciar. București, Ars Docendi.
- 216. Rownchilde, R., 1996. Male genital modification. A sexual selection interpretation. Human Nature, 7(2), pp.189-215.
- 217. Rusche, G., Kirchheimer, O., 2017. Punishment and Social Structure. Routledge.
- 218. Santi, C., 2015. Moliftelnicul lui Dimitrie Liubavici Opera misionară, spirituală și culturală definitorie a Ortodoxiei din sec. al XI-lea. Arhiepiscopia Târgoviștei, pp.123-149.
- 219. Sapouna, M., Bisset, A.M., Matthews, B., 2015. What Works to Reduce Reoffending: A Summary of the Evidence. Justice Analytical Services, Scottish Government.
- 220. Sava, A., Herovanu, E., Dongoroz, V., Costin, A., Daşcovici, N., Gaftoescu, V., Grecu, V., Tegăneanu, C., Răcoasa, G., Rosetti, B., 1957. Pravilniceasca Condică 1780. Ediție critică. Editura Academiei Republicii Populare Romîne, pp. 60-70, 100-160.
- 221. Scott, W.R., 2013. Institutions and organizations: Ideas, interests, and identities. USA, SAGE Publications, pp.50-70.
- 222. Serviciul de Telecomunicații Speciale, 2024. Statistici apeluri 112. Disponibil la: https://sts.ro/ro/servicii/despre-112/statistici-apeluri-112/ [Accesat la: 8 aprilie 2024].
- 223. Silver, E., 2000. Actuarial risk assessment: Reflections on an emerging social-scientific tool. Critical Criminology, 9(1-2), pp.123–143. doi:10.1007/bf02461041.
- 224. Smith, S., 2015. Recidivism, Desistance, and Reentry: A Brief Review of the Literature. The Regents of the University of California.
- 225. Stankov, O., Ivanovski, O., Popov, Z., 2009. Artificial Penile Bodies-From Kama Sutra to Modern Times. Journal of Sexual Medicine, 6(6), pp.1543-1548.
- 226. Stefan, B., 2006. Scurtă istorie a închisorilor. Revista de Științe Penale, 2, pp.258-281.
- 227. Stuber, J., Meyer, I., Link, B., 2008. Stigma, prejudice, discrimination and health. Social Science & Medicine, 67(3), pp.351-357.
- 228. Sutherland, E., 2010. Differential association theory and differential social organization. In: Cullen, F. T., Wilcox, P. (eds.), Encyclopedia of criminological theory, 2, pp.899-906. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- 229. Sutherland, E.H., 1940. White-Collar Criminality. American Sociological Review, 5(1), pp.1-12.
- 230. Sutton, J., 2001. Law, Society Origins, Interactions and Change. California, Pine Forge Press.
- 231. Sykes, G., 1958. The society of captives. A study of maximum security prison. New Jersey: Princeton University Press
- 232. Şerban, A., nedatat. Considerații istorice privind regimului de executare a pedepselor în dreptul românesc. Revista de științe juridice, nedatat.
- 233. Ştefan, B., 2006. Istoria şi reforma închisorilor româneşti. Revista Română de Sociologie, 5, pp.485-512. Bucureşti.
- 234. Ştirbei, B., 1850. Kondika kriminaлічеаскь ку прочедура еі. Bucureşti, Tipografia lui losef Kopanig, pp.1-20.
- 235. Tiberius, V., 2011. Towards a "Planned Path Emergence" View on Future Genesis. Journal of Futures Studies, 15(4), pp.9-24.
- 236. Toader, T., Antonoiu, G., Boroi, A., Brutaru, V., Bulai, B., Bulai, C., Daneş, Ş., Duvac C., Guiu, M., Ifrim, I., Mitrache C., Molnar, I.,
- Ristea, I., Sima, C., Teodorescu, V. and Vasiu, I., Vlăsceanu, A., 2015. Explicațiile noului cod penal. București, Universul Juridic, pp.1-10.
- 237. Tomuş, A. C., 2018. Puterea judecătorească: Precedent și perspectivă. București, Editura Universul Juridic.
- 238. Tönnies, F., 1961. Custom an essay on social custom. Tradus de Farrell Borenstein. Chicago, The Free Press.
- 239. Tönnies, F., 2016. Comunitate și societate. Craiova, Editura Beladi, pp.252-280.
- 240. Top, D., 2014. Istoria avocaturii in România. Târgoviște: Editura Bibliotheca.
- 241. Uduigwomen, A., 2003. A critical assessment of the retributive theory of punishment. Global Journal of Humanities, 3(1), pp.9-13.
- 242. Uggen, C., 2000. Work as a turning point in the life course of criminals: a duration model of age, employment, and recidivism. American Sociological Review, 67, pp.529-546.
- 243. Uniunea Națională a Barourilor din România (UNBR), 2011. Hotărârea nr. 64/2011 privind adoptarea Statutului profesiei de avocat. Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I, nr. 898.
- 244. Uniunea Națională a Barourilor din România UNBR, 2023. Sinteza celor mai importante disfuncționalități ale sistemului judiciar semnalate de avocați și propunerile de soluții posibile
- 245. Ursulescu, N.C., 2007. Legea de organizare judecătorească din 25 iunie 1924. Zargidava Revistă de Istorie, (VI), pp.118-138
- 246. Vaughn, V., 2018. Mapping Society. The Spatial Dimensions of Social Cartography. Londra, UCL Press, pp.1-23.
- 247. Veblen, T., 1899. The theory of the leisure class. An economic study in the evolution of institutions. Londra, Macmillan & Co.
- 248. Velasco, J. (eds.), 2019. Boredom is in your mind. A Shared Psychological-Philosophical Approach. Springer, pp.i-27.
- 249. Vidmar, N., 2011. The Psychology of Trial Judging. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 20(1), pp.58–62. Disponibil la: https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/faculty_scholarship/2295/. [Accesat la: 11 februarie 2024].
- Vila, B., 2006. Impact of long work hours on police officers and the communities they serve. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 49(11), pp.972–980.

- Visher, A., Travis, J., 2003. Transitions from Prison to Community: Understanding Individual Pathways. Annual Review of Sociology, 29(1), pp.89-113.
- Voinescu, S., Ţuca, F., 2023. Pe Drept Cuvânt. Comunismul se întoarce în versiune hi-tech, o "Minunată lume nouă". [YouTube] (21 noiembrie 2023). Intervalul 1:57:00-2:06:00. Disponibil la: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H8wQKyIbJ78 [Accesat la: 14 mai 2024].
- 253. Wacquant, L., 2009. Punishing the Poor: The Neoliberal Government of Social Insecurity. Duke University Press.
- 254. Weber, M., 1978. Economy and Society. Volume II. California, The Regents of the University of California.
- 255. Weber, M., 1978. Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology. Berkeley, University of California Press, pp.80-120.
- 256. White, J.W., Seymour, T.D. (eds.), 1890. Plato: Gorgias (Deuschle-Cron edition). Boston: Ginn & Co., p.259.
- 257. Wilcox, P., Cullen, F. (eds.), 2010. Encyclopedia of Criminological Theory. SAGE Publications, pp.899-907.
- Wilson, A., Davis, R., 2006. Good intentions meet hard realities: an evaluation of the project Greenlight reentry program. Criminology & Public Policy, 5(2), pp.303–338.
- 259. Wooldredge, J., 2020. Prison culture, management, and in-prison violence. Annual Review of Criminology, 3(1), pp.165-188.
- Wright, D., 2009. Inventing God's Law. How the Covenant Code of the Bible Used and Revised the Laws of Hammurabi. New York, Oxford University Press, pp.1-80.
- 261. Yukhnenko, D., Farouki, L. and Fazel, S., 2023. Criminal recidivism rates globally: A 6-year systematic review update. Journal of Criminal Justice, 88, pp.2-15.